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LETTER FROM
THE CEO



Celebrating two decades of success is no small feat, yet here we 
are – APS has marked its way to the top of the distressed debt 
world. Throughout these dynamic and eventful years, APS has 
navigated through turbulent waters, weathering crises such as 
the Lehman’s collapse, real-estate bubbles, covid pandemics, 
periods of high inflation, and even geopolitical tensions. Amidst 
all these challenges, APS has not only shown resilience but has 
also strengthened its foundation, demonstrating our steadfast 
dedication to excellence and adaptability. In light of the anticy-
clical nature of non-performing loans as an asset class, APS has 
strategically capitalized on this characteristic and successful-
ly conducted transactions across more than twenty countries 
resulting in the management of over one hundred and twenty 
portfolios totalling several billion euros in nominal terms.

Year 2023 proved to be another exceptional year for APS, char-
acterized by successful execution of key initiatives. In the face of 
evolving market dynamics, APS remained agile and proactive, 
seizing opportunities within and beyond our core CEE market. 
Notably, the fundraising efforts made in 2023 for our second 
discretionary subfund, Rhapsody II, underscored our commit-
ment to delivering value to our investors while staying ahead of 
the curve in identifying emerging trends and possibilities.

At APS Investments, we have evolved into a full-fledged fund 
management firm, boasting a  formidable team of profession-
als dedicated to delivering outstanding investment outcomes. 
Under the visionary leadership of Petr Kohout, our investment, 
asset management, and risk management teams have set new 
benchmarks for excellence and innovation.

APS Recovery, under the proficient management of Roman Se-
divy, continues to deliver exceptional recovery results, lever-
aging state-of-the-art technology and decades of cumulative 
experience to unlock value from distressed assets. Through 
meticulous due diligence and strategic execution, APS Recov-
ery has reaffirmed our reputation for reliability and effective-
ness in distressed debt recovery.

The above makes APS a leader in investing in distressed debt. 
Rhapsody I  has now been fully invested with approximately 
56% allocated to secured assets, while Rhapsody II has a 68% 
allocation to secured assets. These assets, often comprising 
various types of real estate at different stages of the life cycle 
or legal status, as underlying collaterals, create the bread-and-
butter APS targets when it comes to origination, pricing, and 
management.

As we reflect on the journey of the past two decades, I extend 
my heartfelt gratitude to each business and investment part-
ner, colleague, and friend for their unwavering support, trust, 
and companionship – a  joyful ride filled with challenges, tri-
umphs, and cherished memories. 

In closing, let us reaffirm our commitment to being driven, hum-
ble, and professional as we continue to chart new horizons 
and create lasting value for our stakeholders. Together, we will 
build on the foundation of the past twenty years and write the 
next chapter of APS's remarkable success story.

Sincerely, 

Martin Machoň

CEO and owner of APS 

Dear Colleagues and Business Partners,

Next year it will be 20 years! Twenty years since APS proudly opened its first office in the 
heart of Prague, Czech Republic. Since then, APS has firmly established itself as a leader in 
the distressed debt market.

Letter from the CEO
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Company profile

Our growth extends beyond asset size, encompassing
a broader territorial footprint across Europe. Presently, we op-
erate in 1  3 European countries, with a strong focus on Eastern 
and South-Eastern Europe. 

At APS, our operations are structured around three core busi-
ness lines: recovery services, investment services, and real-es-
tate services. Each of these lines thrives due to the collabora-
tion and dedication of our team, which has grown to over 400 
professionals across APS Group.

Originating from our beginnings, APS Recovery boasts special-
ists with extensive experience in distressed-debt recovery, cov-
ering areas such as unsecured debt, mortgages, and secured 
corporate claims. This depth of experience enables us to pro-
vide rapid, efficient, and ethical debt-collection services for the 
benefit of our clients.

In our ventures across emerging markets in Central and Eastern 
Europe,  APS  Investments  manages  trades  in  non-performing  
loan (NPL) portfolios. Through their diligence, we have earned 
a reputation as a trusted partner to some of the world’s premier 
financial institutions.

Our  success  is  built  on  a  foundation  of  a  robust,  trustworthy  
team. Core to our values is the establishment of collaborative 
relationships founded on fairness towards all stakeholders. Cli-
ents, debtors, business partners, and regulators alike can trust 
in  our  commitment  to  upholding strict  ethical  standards.  Rec-
ognizing that debt recovery involves complex human emotions, 
we hold firm in our commitment to these standards, which has 
solidified our standing as a reliable partner in existing markets 
and facilitated our entry into new territories.

Our dedication to responsible collaboration ensures our long-
term presence. As stewards of critical economic functions, we 
steer clear of quick fixes that may compromise our overarching 
objectives. With 19 years of unwavering commitment, we con-
tinue to pursue our mission with resolute integrity.

APS, founded in Prague (Czech Republic) in 2004, has evolved into a prominent multinational 
asset management firm with a specialization in distressed-debt investments. By the end of 
2023, our total assets under advisement had reached EUR 11.6 billion.
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History

Since its founding, the story of APS has been about expanding 
and pushing into new frontiers. This choice has proven to be 
correct over our 19 years of existence, though the recent stabi-
lisation of the existing geographical perimeter has been inevi-
table, given the market conditions. Our dedicated efforts have 
enabled us to maintain our presence into 13 countries with the 
need to re-focus on markets with high investment potential in 
the years to come...

Looking back, we have passed many milestones on our jour-
ney so far.

Our first success came in 2004 with the acquisition of a portfo-
lio from Česká spořitelna (part of the Erste Group) amounting to 

EUR 25 million. That year also saw the current sole shareholder in 
APS, Martin Machoň, be tasked with developing greenfield pro-
jects under a Czech permit as a supervisor. He used this as the 
foundation to build a team with the best experts on the market.

As the team grew, their collective efforts bore fruit. Already the 
following  year  (2005)  saw  the  opening  of  two  new  markets:  
Slovakia and Serbia. Other operations and services were also 
being added to expand in other directions.

Our  expansion  was  once  again  territorial  in  2007  with  the
launch of greenfield APS operations in Romania. With the help 
of London- and US-based investors, we established a new in-
vestment platform there and in Poland.

number of employees
(yearly average)

I
number of portofolios 

(incl. sold portfolios)

I
assets under advisory 

(inc. sold portfolios in EUR bn)

567 – 100 – 10.3

436 – 116 –11.3

886 – 94 – 9.4

795 – 95 – 9.6

819 – 86 – 8.8

2021

2020

2019

2018

2017

2016

2015

722 – 80 – 5.5

571 – 74 – 4.4

2014

2013

368 – 71 – 3.0

289 – 66 – 2.4

245 – 55 – 1.3

2022

402 – 121 –11.3

8

8

8
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History

Our presence in Poland expanded in 2009 with the acquisi-
tion of a large securitization fund from Varde. Elsewhere, APS 
raised new capital for Loan Management, a Slovak–Cypriot in-
vestment structure.

We saw another greenfield expansion in 2012 when we en-
tered Bulgaria and obtained our first corporate NPL portfolio 
marketed in this region.

Thanks to our diversified offer of services and products, in 
2013 we were able to present our first closed-end investment 
fund (APS Fund Alpha). We also began a significant interna-
tional partnership with the International Finance Corporation (a 
member of the World Bank Group).

Half a billion euro. That was the size of a secured retail portfolio 
we acquired from Volksbank Romania in 2014.

In 2015, a new real estate investment services division ex-
panded our offer of services. As our services and products 
grew more comprehensive, we simplified the APS ownership 
structure with Martin Machoň becoming the only shareholder.

Our portfolio reached new heights a year later, in 2016. Pur-
chases in South-eastern Europe meant portfolios amounting to 
EUR 1.3 billion. We also launched APS Delta, a non-regulated 
securitization vehicle in Luxembourg, and expanded into other 
markets: Croatia, Hungary, and Cyprus.

As part of our efforts to help the Cypriot economic recovery in 
2017, our Real Estate division launched its full operation with 
two important purchases: Hellenic Bank’s NPL portfolio and 
a real estate management business. This year also marked a 
decade of our success on the Romanian market!

We expanded in many areas in 2018. This included our largest 
portfolio to date: EUR 2.3 billion in NPLs from Greece’s Piraeus 
Bank. It also meant spreading in the Balkans, with new offices 
in Bosnia and Herzegovina and Montenegro. Within Central 
Europe, we strengthened our position by acquiring VB-Leas-
ing, based in Vienna. This company, operating in Bosnia and 
Herzegovina, Croatia, Serbia, and Slovenia, administered 
nearly 20,000 cars. The Real Estate division also grew after 
partially taking over a commercial leasing portfolio previously 
managed by Immigon and so handling contracts with a total 
value of EUR 13 million.

The expansion in the Balkans continued in 2019 with the ac-
quisition of two new NPL portfolios in Bosnia and Herzegovina 
and Montenegro. This purchase meant we became the leading 
debt investor and servicer in South-eastern Europe. Our Real 
Estate division introduced the Casazela and Syndre Valuation 
network operating in Croatia, Czechia, Hungary, Romania, and 
Serbia.

In 2020 APS advised with respect to non-performing loans to 
Loan Management Investment Fund. Fund got fully invested 
and allocated a total of EUR 87 million across sixteen well-di-
versified transactions.

Another momentous change came in 2021 with the launch 
of APS CREDIT FUND SICAV. This fund, which has collected 
over EUR 30 million, focuses on investments into distressed 
debt transactions and large corporate receivables secured by 
real estate assets. Examples of such collateral include logis-
tics centres, hotels, office and residential buildings, and land. 
The fund set its investment strategy to reflect the economic 
situation of companies and consumers being burdened by the 
consequences of the global pandemic.

In 2022 APS has acquired a corporate and SME secured loan 
portfolio with a nominal value exceeding one billion euro in 
Greece. In September we launched the second subfund RHAP-
SODY II, which represents an investment opportunity with the 
expected above-standard return. The newly established fund 
aims to purchase problematic overdue receivables. 

In 2023, we completed the fundraising of RHAPSODY II sub-
fund while achieving the amount of EUR 28 million collected 
for investing. APS assisted in acquiring of a number of smaller 
portfolios in Poland, Croatia, Bulgaria and Romania and initi-
ated another sizeable acquisition in Romania expected to be 
completed next year. 

In the period of 2022-2023 APS completed 40 transactions 
with the purchase price exceeding EUR 200 million. APS cur-
rently works with more than 100 different clients (banks, in-
surance companies, investment funds, telcos and utilities), 
employs 400 professionals and has completed over 120 acqui-
sitions with 700 thousand loans. Since the start of its activity 
APS acquired NPL portfolios in the nominal value in excess of 
EUR 11 billion and the aggregate purchase price of EUR 1bn.
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APS Global Position

Presence in 13 European countries
with more than 400 professionals
enables complete coverage of
Central Europe & South-Eastern Europe

1 . Czech Republic (CZ) 
established: 2004 
office address: Pobřežní 394/12,  
Karlín, 186 00 Prague 8,  
Czech Republic

2. Slovakia (SK) 
established: 2005 
office address: Vajnorská 100/A, 
Bratislava, Nové Mesto 831 04, Slovakia

3. Poland (PL) 
established: 2007 
office address: Aleksandra Ostrowskiego 13D, 
Wrocław, 53-238, Poland

4. Hungary (HU) 
established: 2016 
office address: Váci út 140, 
1138 Budapest, Hungary

5. Croatia (HR) 
established: 2016/2017 
office address: Radnička cesta 43, 
10000 Zagreb, Croatia

6. Bosnia and Herzegovina (BA)  
established: 2018 
office address: Hiseta 15, 71000 Sarajevo,  
Bosnia and Herzegovina

7. Montenegro (ME) 
established: 2018 
office address: Cetinjska 11, 
The Capital Plaza 4th floor, 81 000 Podgorica, 
Montenegro

8. Serbia (RS) 
established: 2005 
office address: Žorža Klemansoa 19, 
III floor, Belgrade, Serbia

9. Romania (RO) 
established: 2007 
office address: 4B Ing. George Constantinescu 
street and 2-4 George Constantinescu street, 
Globalworth Campus Building C, 3rd floor, 
Bucharest, 2nd district, Romania

10. Bulgaria (BG) 
established: 2012 
office address: 81B, Bulgaria Boulevard, 
1404 Sofia, district Triaditsa, Bulgaria

11. Greece (GR) 
established: 2014 
office address: 7 Paleologou St. Halandri, 
152 32, Greece

12. Luxembourg (LU) 
established: 2015 
office address: 46A, Avenue  
John F. Kennedy, L-1855 Luxembourg,  
Grand Duchy of Luxembourg

13. Italy (IT) 
established: 2018 
office address: Viale Abruzzi 94, 
CAP 20131  
Milano, Italy

13

12
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APS Global Position
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Company structure

The Company's registered office is 46A, Avenue John F. Ken-
nedy, L-1855 Luxembourg, Grand Duchy of Luxembourg.
The subscribed share capital of the Company is fixed at EUR 
31,000. The Company is owned by the sole shareholder Martin 
Machoň. 

As the parent of APS Group, the Company holds 100% own-
ership interest and/or issued share capital in the following 
companies: 

•	 APS Investments s.r.o. and APS Recovery a.s. both 
established and existing under the laws of the Czech 
Republic. 

•	 APS Investment Funds S.à r.l., a company established and 
existing under the laws of the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg.  

The Company is administered by the Board of Directors (Con-
seil d'administration) with five-year terms of office, comprising 
Martin Machoň since 21 December 2018, Barbora Kubíková re-
placing Petr Valenta since 1 January 2023, and Luca Galinelli 
acting in the role since 1 February 2022.  

APS Holding S.A. (the “Company”) was established as a public limited company (société 
anonyme) incorporated and existing under the laws of the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg and 
registered with the Luxembourg Trade and Company Register (Registre de Commerce et des 
Sociétés) under reg. No. B201461 on 16 November 2015.  
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Company Structure

APS Holding S.A. is the parent company of individual APS Group entities through either direct or indirect ownership 
of shares or ownership interests in the group companies. 
Organizational chart of APS Group at the end of 2023 comprised of these main subsidiaries: 

     CZECH REPUBLIC 
•	 APS BETA, a.s. 

•	 APS CREDIT FUND SICAV, a.s. 
•	 APS CZ&SK SERVICES s.r.o.
•	 APS GAMMA s.r.o., v likvidaci

•	 APS Investments s.r.o.
•	 APS MIP, s.r.o. 

•	 APS Recovery a.s.
•	 LOAN MANAGEMENT investiční fond, a.s.

    GREECE
•	 APS ETA REO SINGLE 

MEMBER S.A.
•	 APS Recovery Greece EPE

•	 APS Recovery Greece 
Credit and Loan Servicing 

Société Anonyme

    ROMANIA 
•	 APS Consumer Finance S.R.L.

•	 APS INVESTMENTS S.R.O. PRAGA, SU-
CURSALA BUCURESTI

•	 APS REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENTS S.R.L.
•	 APS RED II S.R.L.

•	 Asset Portfolio Servicing Romania S.R.L.
•	 Casazela Properties S.R.L.

•	 Serraghis Asset Management S.R.L.

      BULGARIA
•	 APS Finance O.O.D.

•	 APS Bulgaria E.O.O.D.

     LUXEMBOURG
•	 APS Delta S.A.
•	 APS Eta S.A.

•	 APS Holding S.A.
•	 APS Investment Funds S.à r.l.

•	 APS Theta S.à r.l.
•	 APS Zeta S.A.

MONTENEGRO 
•	 APS Montenegro 

D.O.O. Podgorica

POLAND 
•	 APS Poland S.A.

     SERBIA
•	 APS FUND BETA D.O.O. 

Beograd 
•	 APS D.O.O. BEOGRAD

      SLOVAKIA 
•	 APS Investment s. r. o. 
•	 APS Investments s.r.o.,  

organizačná zložka
•	 LOAN MANAGEMENT II, a. s.

HUNGARY 
•	 APS Hungary Kft.

•	 APS Recovery 
Hungary Kft.

•	 Casazela Kft.

CROATIA 
•	 APS Croatia d.o.o. 
•	 APS REO Sunrise 

d.d. 

ITALY 
•	 APS Italy S.R.L.

BOSNIA AND 
HERZEGOVINA

•	 APS BH d.o.o.

1414





APS GROUP 
MANAGEMENT 

TEAM

04



Martin Machoň 
Owner and Group CEO

Martin has over 17 years of experience in distressed asset management and advisory and has been an 
integral part of APS from its inception. He has been involved in all phases of APS development since 
its founding in 2004. Prior to establishing APS, Martin held management positions at Société Générale 
and Lucent Technologies. 

as of 31 December 2023
APS Group Management Team
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APS Group Management Team
as of 31 December 2023

Viktor is leading the APS investment team in 
Bratislava and Bucharest and joined the Investment 
team in 2013. Viktor is managing acquisitions 
across all the markets where APS is active or 
expanding and has experience with the wide 
spectrum of distressed assets. Prior to joining APS, 
Viktor was working for more than seven years in 
private equity. Viktor served as the Head of Fund 
Administration at Munich Private Equity Partners, 
prior to that Viktor was working with Swiss Re 
Private Equity Partners.

Petr has more than 25 years of experience in 
financial services industry both in the Czech 

Republic and internationally. He spent 12 years 
in Société Générale Group and acted also as 

a CEO of its consumer finance subsidiary in 
Vietnam. Throughout his career he worked also for 
PriceWaterhouseCoopers and ING. Prior to joining 
APS, he acted as a Group CFO of Homecredit, the 

largest POS financing provider in the world.

Viktor Toth 
Chief Investment Officer

Petr Kohout 
Group Chief Financial Officer and CEO 

of APS Investments 
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APS Group Management Team
as of 31 December 2023

Roman has been working in APS for more than 
9 years: initially as the Head of Recovery in APS 

CZ&SK, later in Business Development establishing 
new APS Recovery subsidiaries and since 2020 

he took over also the responsibility for the teams 
covering ‘Under 5’ investment projects, HR, 

Reporting and Business systems. And then he 
acted as COO of APS Recovery. He graduated from 

University of Economics in Prague.

Roman Šedivý  
CEO of APS Recovery

Barbora joined APS three years ago as Group 
Compliance Officer, bringing with her a wealth 
of experience and expertise in navigating 
regulatory landscapes within the finance sector. 
With a background in law, she transitioned into 
strengthened compliance roles, ensure compliance 
with all relevant laws and regulations, as well as with 
internal policies and industry best practices. 

Barbora Kubíková  
Group Compliance Officer
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GROUP CEO

MARTIN MACHOŇ

GROUP INTERNAL AUDIT 
& QUALITY MANAGEMENT

TOMÁŠ BOROVEC

Organization Chart 
of APS Holding S.A.

GROUP  
ACCOUNTING,  
TAX & STRUCT.

ADRIANA JURKOVÁ

GROUP IT

JIŘÍ ZOTH

GROUP HR

VACANT

GROUP
PROCUREMENT &
FACILITY MNGMT

PAVEL KANIA

GROUP LEGAL
& COMPLIANCE

TEREZA ŠIMANOVSKÁ

TRANSACTIONS

MIHAI POP (LEADER)

VALUATIONS

STANISLAV PRADA

TRANSACTIONS 
LEGAL

TEREZA ŠIMANOVSKÁ

INVESTMENT  
MANAGER

TOMÁŠ BALUN

INVESTMENT 
MANAGER

PETER JANUŠEK

INVESTMENT 
MANAGER

NIKOLAS TOURKAS

RE DEVELOPMENT

CRISTIAN BADEA

PERFORMANCE 
MANAGEMENT

MAHIR BUČUK

GROUP TREASURY

DHIRAJ KAPUR

GROUP 
CONTROLLING 
& FUND ADMIN

MATOUŠ MENC

GROUP PR 
& MARKETING

FILIP REMENEC

OPERATIONS

PETR KOHOUT
 ( OOC  )

BUSINESS SYSTEMS 
& ANALYTICS

ELENA OPREA

GROUP 
COMPLIANCE

BARBORA KUBÍKOVÁ

CORPORATE  
& TRANSACTION

S LEGAL

RALUCA NICOLAE

INVESTMENT  
MANAGEMENT

VIKTOR TOTH (CIO)

OPERATIONS

PETR KOHOUT
(CEO & GROUP CFO)
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Organization Chart 
of APS Holding S.A.

GREECE

MINAS ATHANASIADIS
(COUNTRY MANAGER)

CROATIA

MAJA DUBENIK
(COUNTRY MANAGER)

SERBIA

JELENA SLJIVANCANIN
(COUNTRY MANAGER)

MONTENEGRO

JELENA SLJIVANCANIN
(COUNTRY MANAGER)

ITALY

ROMAN ŠEDIVÝ (interim
COUNTRY MANAGER)

ROMANIA

RADU DOBRE
(COUNTRY MANAGER)

POLAND

ROBERT CHRZANOWSKI
(COUNTRY MANAGER)

HUNGARY

MARTON PERJÉSI
(COUNTRY MANAGER)

BULGARIA

IOANNIS KESISIS *
(COUNTRY MANAGER)

ROMANIA

R. DOBRE (CM)

FUNDRAISING

VACANT

APS RECOVERY

ROMAN ŠEDIVÝ (CEO)

2121

CZ&SK

TOMÁŠ CHLOUPEK
(COUNTRY MANAGER)
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APS Holding S.A. Company Structure chart 
as of 31 December 2023
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APS Holding S.A. (LU)

Mr. Martin Machoň
100%

APS Investment Funds S.à r.l. (LU)

APS BETA, a.s. (CZ)

APS CREDIT FUND SICAV, a.s. (CZ)

APS Delta S.A. (LU)

APS FINANCE O.O.D. (BG)

APS Theta S.a.r.l. (LU)

100%

95%

100%

100%

3%

100%

50%

10%

LOAN MANAGEMENT II, a.s. (SK)

5%

APS ETA S.A. (LU)100%

100% APS ETA REO SINGLE
MEMBER S.A. GR )

APS Investment s.r.o. (SK)100%

APS MIP, s.r.o. (CZ)100%

APS ZETA S.A. (LU)

100%

   APS stnemtsevnI  s.r.o. (CZ     )
100%

APS Investments s.r.o.,
organizačná zložka (SK)

APS GAMMA s.r.o., v likvidaci (CZ)100%

LOAN MANAGEMENT investiční fond, a.s. (CZ)

APS INVESTMENTS S.R.O.
PRAGA, SUCURSALA 
BUCURESTI (RO)
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APS Holding S.A. Company Structure chart 
as of 31 December 2023
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APS Recovery a.s. (CZ)
100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

APS BH d.o.o. (BA)

APS Bulgaria E.O.O.D. (BG)

APS Croatia d.o.o. (HR)

APS CZ&SK Services s.r.o. (CZ)

APS d.o.o. Beograd (RS)

APS FUND BETA d.o.o. Beograd (RS)100%

100% APS Hungary Kft. (HU)

APS Recovery Hungary Kft. (HU)80%

Casazela Kft. (HU)100%

100%

100%

100%

95%

100%

APS Italy S.R.L. (I)

APS Montenegro D.O.O. Podgorica (ME)

APS Poland S.A. (PL)

APS REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENTS S.R.L. (RO)

APS RED II S.R.L. (RO)

97%

100%

Casazela Properties S.R.L. (RO)

APS Recovery Greece EPE (GR)

65.4% APS Recovery Greece Credit and Loan Servicing S.A. (GR)

100% Asset Portfolio Servicing Romania S.R.L. (RO)

Serraghis Asset Management S. R L. (RO)0.04%

APS Consumer Finance S. R.L. (RO)0.037%

APS REO Sunrise d.d. (HR)100%
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Vision and Values

We’ve charted a vision to become the premier alternative-as-
set manager in distressed financial services. Our broad market 
presence has endowed us with the requisite expertise to up-
hold our standing among the industry’s elite.

Our reputation precedes us. Clients across all our markets 
have lauded our adeptness in tailoring innovative solutions to 
help them to achieve their objectives. We’ve learned firsthand 
that a one-size-fits-all approach falls short. So we collaborate 
with top talent to devise optimal solutions for every scenario.

To realize our lofty vision, we adhere to a set of fundamental 
yet potent principles that underpin all our endeavours. We pri-
oritize results and remain resolute in seizing new opportunities. 
Our commitment to being a reliable partner with high-quality 
solutions emphasizes our readiness to be held accountable for 
outcomes. Furthermore, our endeavours are always collabora-
tive, ensuring collective success as a cohesive team. Guided 
by these values, our team continuously pushes boundaries in 
all facets of our operations.

Our unwavering focus on our core competence of acquiring, 
advising, and servicing NPL portfolios is pivotal to realizing our 
ambitious objectives. Non-performing assets weigh down the 
economy, impeding banks’ lending capabilities, companies’ 
target achievements, and individuals’ aspirations. By facilitat-
ing the recovery of unproductive capital, APS enhances the 
well-being of local communities. Throughout this process, we 
treat debtors with the utmost respect, acknowledging the pro-
found impact of debt-repayment challenges on their psyche. 
Our dedication to finding optimal solutions, even in the most 
intricate cases, remains steadfast.

In our 19 years of existence, we’ve amassed invaluable knowl-
edge. Still, we recognize that the journey is ongoing. We re-
main committed to learning and refining our insights, thereby 
delivering value to our investors and partners through this iter-
ative approach.

Since our inception in 2004, we’ve garnered extensive experience from venturing into 15 
European markets and numerous others beyond Europe. However, resting on our laurels 
is not part of our ethos. To maintain our position as a market leader, we understand the 
importance of looking forward.
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Services

INVESTMENTS
Our investment and fund management teams offer compre-
hensive professional services covering investments in all 
classes of distressed assets. We serve as investment advisors 
throughout the investment lifecycle, beginning with deal orig-
ination and acquisition, and continuing through performance 
management and administration related to ownership and 
management of the transactions.

We identify investment opportunities across Central and East-
ern Europe (CEE) and South-eastern Europe (SEE), targeting 
portfolio transactions and acquisitions of operating entities 
with portfolios on their books. During the acquisition process 
of distressed assets, APS provides comprehensive investment 
advisory services, including portfolio valuation, collateral anal-
ysis, recovery strategy analysis, and due-diligence support.
Our team manages the transaction from financial closing on-
wards, overseeing fund administration, reporting, perfor-
mance, and cash flow management. The transactions we ad-
vise on are funded by funds and accounts advised by APS 
and institutional investors and family offices. Additionally, on 
a deal-by-deal basis, we co-invest alongside reputable institu-
tional pan-European and global investors.

We have earned the trust of the world’s  leading financial in-
stitutions, private investors, and supranational institutions, in-
cluding the International Finance Corporation (a member of the 
World Bank) and the European Bank for Reconstruction and 
Development. As a trusted partner, we offer unparalleled ex-
pertise and support to our clients, ensuring successful invest-
ment outcomes and long-term growth.

DEBT RECOVERY 
We have consistently offered recovery services encompassing 
a comprehensive range of soft, field, and legal collection activ-
ities. Our primary focus is on corporate collection, with a sec-
ondary emphasis on retail recovery. Our clientele includes both 
small and large banks, insurance companies, funds, telcos, and 
institutional partners.

With hundreds of call centres and recovery specialists in our 
employ, APS places significant emphasis on leveraging tech-
nology to support collection processes. We recognize the 
critical importance of the competency and expertise of our re-
covery specialists. By facilitating the sharing of best practices 
across countries, we enable our specialists to broaden their 
horizons and discover more effective processes and techno-
logical solutions.

In 2023, we witnessed a significant enhancement of our Investment business line, along with 
the launch of a new sub-fund. Our traditional debt recovery operations, managing debts either 
serviced by us or on our books, primarily took place through our local branches.
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CEE NPL Market Update

The European market of NPLs has experienced notable shifts 
and developments, significantly impacting the management 
of distressed debt throughout the region. While economic 
uncertainties persisted, banks navigated through evolving 
market dynamics with a  focus on compliance, data standard-
ization, and risk management. Challenges such as potential 
asset-quality depreciation, rising default rates, and macroeco-
nomic uncertainties posed ongoing risks to the European NPL 
market in 2023.

From the perspective of market dynamics and performance, 
the European NPL market has shown post-pandemic resil-
ience, with a gradual decrease in legacy NPL levels in various 
jurisdictions. Despite economic challenges, most European 
countries have managed to avoid recession, contributing to 
a steady shrinkage in the NPL market. In addition, banks have 
continued their deleveraging activities, driven by supervisory 
pressure and the need for credible NPL strategies and plans.

Regarding data standardization, a new data standard has been 
introduced to encourage NPL transactions in the EU, aiming to 
reduce information asymmetry between sellers and buyers. The 
European Banking Authority published Implementing Technical 
Standards on NPL transaction data templates to enhance data 
disclosure and promote transparency in NPL transactions.

In 2022, the non-performing exposure of loans within the 
euro area and other EU nations, under the single supervisory 
mechanism, notably decreased compared to previous levels. 
By the second quarter of 2023, the total value of NPLs had 

reached EUR 343 billion. The exposure of banks within the 
region saw a  slight increase in 2023, although it had signifi-
cantly decreased in previous years. Larger banks, with assets 
exceeding EUR 200 billion, experienced a  slower decline in 
their exposure than smaller banks did. Notably, some of the 
primary sellers of NPLs in Europe were banks headquartered 
in Greece.

According to the Vienna Initiative, the NPL ratio (which repre-
sents the ratio of NPLs to total debt) had decreased at the end 
of June 2023. This decline of 0.3 percentage points year over 
year resulted in an average NPL ratio of 2.2% in CESEE region. 
Since the inception of the EBRD-led NPL Monitor, a publication 
released biannually beginning in 2016, this ratio has consist-
ently shown a downward trend.

The most significant reduction in NPL ratios at the end of June 
2023 was observed in Bulgaria, with a decline of 1.5 percent-
age points, bringing the ratio down to 3.8% of total debt. On 
the other side, Ukraine was the only country that experienced 
a rise in its NPL ratio, which climbed by 9.2 percentage points 
to reach 38.9% of total debt. The overall NPL stock amounted 
to EUR 10.7 billion.

The regional decline marks a historic low across the 17 econ-
omies of Central, Eastern, and South-eastern Europe (CESEE) 
since 2016, when the regional average was at 7.2% of total 
loans. Furthermore, outside the CESEE region, Greece experi-
enced a notable decline in its NPL ratio, dropping to 7.5% (from 
9.4%) at the end of June 2023.

In 2023, the European non-performing loan (NPL) securitization market showed a greater 
range of variety than before. However, it was a year marked by a relative respite in activity. 
None of the transactions that were temporarily halted following the European Central Bank’s 
decision to raise interest rates resumed during the year.
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Regarding NPL volume, there was an average decrease of 6.8%. 
As of the end of June 2023, NPL volumes across the CESEE re-
gion amounted to EUR 27.9 billion. Latvia experienced the most 
substantial relative decrease in NPL volume, with a reduction of 
26.2% to EUR 0.4 billion, followed by Croatia with a decrease 
of 23.9% to EUR 0.2 billion and Bosnia and Herzegovina with 
a reduction of 17.7% to EUR 0.5 billion. In absolute terms, Poland 
had the largest reduction in NPL volume, amounting to EUR 700 
million, equivalent to 7.1% of its total volume.

Only three countries saw an increase in NPL volumes: Albania 
(8.4%), Serbia (5.8%), and Kosovo (1.2%).

The average NPL coverage ratio experienced a slight and on-
going decrease of 0.2 percentage points between June 2022 
and June 2023 to reach 64.3%. This maintenance of the aver-
age level has been consistent since the onset of the Covid-19 
pandemic.

While a  portion of the decrease in NPL volumes can be at-
tributed to banks selling NPLs to third-party investors, this is 
believed to have contributed only minimally to the reduction, 
given the overall level of publicly reported transactions during 
the period. The decline is more likely due to loan write-offs and 
advancements in restructuring, enforcement, and internal re-
covery efforts by banks. 

However, future expectations highlight persistent macroe-
conomic challenges such as increasing interest rates and 
ongoing inflation. There is a potential risk that assets will be 
affected by further shocks related to real-estate lending, unse-
cured consumer lending, assets reliant on pandemic-era sup-
port, and sectors susceptible to inflation and commodity-price 
fluctuations. It will be of great importance for regulators and 
banking supervisors to maintain vigilance for any indications 
of deteriorating asset quality or an uptick in NPLs within the 
financial sector. It is vital to emphasize that banks must be fully 
prepared for potential declines in asset quality, ensuring ro-
bust credit risk monitoring and management, appropriate loan 
classification, accurate loan staging in accordance with IFRS 9, 
and adequate loan loss provisioning.
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Investment Management 

APS has been working on this transaction for more than a year. 
Collection reports and SPL visibility into future performance 
gives us confidence that the efforts of the entire APS team will 
be rewarded by the satisfaction of our investors. In addition to 
this transaction, we closed the acquisition of a sizeable unse-
cured retail NPL portfolio from a local bank at the beginning of 
2023. Following that transaction, we managed to close a single 
ticket transaction, a claim towards a corporate debtor secured 
by a substantial commercial asset. Through this transaction, 
we consolidated full control over a syndicated loan sold by var-
ious banks. 

Poland is one of our key markets alongside Romania and 
Greece. In Poland, we acquired two secured retail loan port-
folios from to two different banks with a total nominal value of 
around EUR 30 million and exposure of up to 380 during 2023.

In Croatia, similar to 2022, we closed two deals at the end of 
the year. This time, both transactions were secured retail NPL 
portfolios. One portfolio comprises 30 NPLs with 25 assets as 
collateral. In the second transaction, we bought around 100 
NPLs secured by 74 mainly residential properties in superior 
locations.

Private lending agreements are a growing activity for APS 
Credit Fund SICAV. APS closed the first financing agreement in 
Hungary. We provided a credit facility amounting to over EUR 
2 million to finance the purchase of land near Budapest. This is 
the latest piece of land consolidation to begin development of 
a logistic centre for a significant market player.

In Bulgaria, APS assisted with acquiring several unsecured 
consumer financing NPL portfolios during 2023. Through 
these transactions, we strengthened our position on the debt 
acquisition market.

Lastly, in Latvia we continued cooperation with a local partner in 
which we prolonged a forward flow transaction where we were 
buying batches of unsecured retail claims on a monthly basis.

The main focus of the transaction teams was a Romanian corporate and retail  
sub-performing loan (SPL) and NPL portfolio transaction, which is due to be completed in 
2024. This transaction is set to increase exposure to Romanian NPLs and SPLs in nominal 
value by ca EUR 0.5 billion. 
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APS Funds

Serraghis Loan Management Ltd. 
•	 Established in 2009.
•	 Investment period 2010–2012; 2016–present.
•	 Non-regulated investment vehicle from Cyprus.
•	 The first APS investment vehicle for regional institutional 

investors and family offices.
•	 Invested in 35 portfolios.
•	 All types of NPLs and distressed assets.
•	 CEE and SEE.
•	 APS has been the exclusive investment advisor regarding 

NPL portfolios.
•	 At the end of 2023, the performance of Serraghis Loan 

Management was roughly 125%, proving the portfolios’ 
potential with an expected overall net cash multiple of 
over 3.25. 

APS BETA, a.s. formerly APS FUND BETA 
uzavřený investiční fond, a.s.
•	 Established in 2013. 
•	 Investment period 2014–2018. 
•	 Non-regulated investment vehicle from Czechia (de-li-

cencing from a regulated Qualified Investors Fund com-
pleted in early 2018).

•	 Special fund created by APS to partner with IFC.
•	 All types of NPLs and distressed assets.
•	 Invested in 5 Romanian portfolios with a total nominal val-

ue of EUR 1.07 billion.
•	 APS has been the exclusive investment advisor regarding 

NPL portfolios.
•	 The overall performance of APS BETA was cca 78% in 

2023. Performance improvements are expected once the 
last few bigger items are resolved.

APS Delta S.A. & APS Zeta S.A. & APS Eta S.A.
•	 Luxembourg unregulated securitization vehicles with an 

independent Luxembourg-based administrator.
•	 Investors include credit funds and international institu-

tions. 
•	 For investors that prefer to invest on a deal-by-deal basis 
•	 Target investors to commit EUR 10–50 million each. 
•	 Assets held in dedicated bankruptcy-remote compart-

ments.
•	 Investors hold bonds issued by the compartment.
•	 Investors receive distributions on a monthly basis.

APS Delta S.A.
•	 Established in 2016.
•	 Investment performance oscillates within the expected 

range. The outlook for 2024 remains positive. Some port-
folios reached their tail phase and restructuring is in pro-
cess.

•	 Currently invested in 8 portfolios with overall performance 
of 87%.

APS Zeta S.A.
•	 Established in 2021.
•	 More than EUR 40 million invested in the CEE region.
•	 Significant investment over-performance compared to the 

original targets.
•	 Currently invested in 4 portfolios with overall performance 

of 142 %

APS Eta S.A.
•	 Established in 2022.
•	 Fully funded, single investment vehicle in cooperation 

with a Greek banking institution.

APS Theta S.à r.l.
•	 Established in 2023.
•	 Single investment vehicle for a large Romanian NPL port-

folio. Onboarding is expected in the beginning of 2024.

LOAN MANAGEMENT investiční fond, a.s.
•	 Established in 2016.
•	 Qualified Investor Fund regulated by the Czech National 

Bank.
•	 Licence for self-governance obtained in November 2018.
•	 As of 31 December 2023, 25 investments have been 

made, with 1.21 current net multiple.
•	 All types of NPLs and distressed assets.
•	 CEE and SEE.
•	 APS has been the exclusive investment advisor regarding 

NPL portfolios.

APS CREDIT FUND SICAV, a.s.
•	 In 2021, APS successfully launched APS CREDIT FUND 

SICAV, a commingled regulated fund domiciled in 
Czechia. 

•	 The Fund raised more than EUR 31.6 million within the 
first fundraising period of its sub-fund RHAPSODY. In 
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APS Funds

2022, the Fund launched the second sub-fund RHAPSO-
DY II, overall fundraising amounted to EUR 27.9 million.   

•	 APS CREDIT FUND SICAV targets distressed opportu-
nities in the post-COVID-19 environment. Due to impact 
of COVID-19 on national economies, distressed markets 
are expected to be more active in the upcoming years. 
APS CREDIT FUND SICAV is designed to offer Czech and 
Slovak qualified investors participation in this substantial 
investment opportunity. 

•	 The expected targeted return on investment is 12% p.a. 
(net of fees). The recovery process for portfolios acquired 
through APS CREDIT FUND SICAV will be managed pre-
dominately by local APS servicing subsidiaries.

RHAPSODY
•	 Rhapsody has invested in 32 portfolios out of which five 

portfolios has already been closed. At the beginning 
of 2024 we were also near the closing of four portfolio 
acquisitions, out of which three are in Romania and one in 

Hungary. Investments are currently held in eight coun-
tries, diversifying the Rhapsody investments through 
multiple geographies - the Czech Republic, Poland, and 
Latvia. The largest investment exposure is to Greece, 
followed closely by Croatia, Romania, and Hungary. 

RHAPSODY II
•	 Rhapsody II has invested in 13 portfolios. At the begin-

ning of 2024 we have been preparing acquisitions of 
four portfolios, out of which two are in Romania, one in 
Montenegro and one in Cyprus. Investments are current-
ly held in seven countries, diversifying the Rhapsody II 
investments through several markets including Poland, 
Greece, and Romania. The largest highest investment 
exposure is to Poland, Hungary, Greece, Romania and 
Croatia. Specifically, in Poland, Rhapsody II invested in a 
retail-secured portfolio, and in Romania, in corporate-se-
cured and retail-unsecured portfolios.
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Debt Recovery 

As the operational arm of APS Group, APS Recovery possess-
es a  multi-unit, cross-national infrastructure for conducting 
collection activities through locally situated branches. We dis-
seminate our expertise and best practices to new locales while 
overseeing the retrieval process through continuous data 
analysis and tailored reporting to meet client requirements. 
Our commitment to innovation and excellence is evident in our 
robust retrieval and recovery teams, equipped with extensive 
expertise in KPI-driven soft collection and navigating complex 
corporate cases across various stages of legal proceedings. 
With over 120 portfolios and assets under advisement exceed-
ing EUR 11.3 billion, we possess the proficiency to deliver tan-
gible outcomes.

Despite encountering external hurdles in 2023, such as the 
post-pandemic economic fallout from Covid-19 and the ongo-
ing conflict in Ukraine, we achieved our collection objectives 
successfully. While we made the strategic decision to exit the 
Ukrainian market by the end of 2023, the overall impact on the 
group was negligible as it was not one of our primary markets. 
Additionally, operations in Bosnia and Herzegovina have ceased.

We remain steadfast in our commitment to delivering top-tier 
debt-retrieval services to our clients and investors, irrespective 
of external circumstances.

At APS Recovery, we take pride in investing in our workforce, 
which comprise 344 professionals across 13 European offices. 
We are dedicated to nurturing and advancing our employees’ 
careers, with numerous success stories of internal growth, in-
cluding advancements to managerial and directorial roles. We 
foster cross-border knowledge exchange and best practice 
sharing through team and country rotations. Our employees 
respond with exceptional results, and we reciprocate by im-
plementing retention strategies, enhanced onboarding pro-
cesses, coaching and mentoring initiatives, and incentives for 
innovative thinking. Furthermore, we enlist seasoned experts 
from banks, advisory firms, law practices, and other industries 
to complement our internal talent pool. At APS Recovery, we 
value initiative and ambition, encouraging our employees to 
elevate standards and seize opportunities for advancement.

For nearly two decades of experience managing distressed debt across various jurisdictions, 
debt retrieval constitutes the cornerstone of APS operations. We have earned a reputation as 
a reliable and esteemed service provider to institutional investors and banks, distinguished 
by our adept handling of diverse exposures, including consumer loans, residential mortgages, 
corporate loans backed by real estate, and real estate owned (REO) assets.
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Business Development 

Morocco: Advancing Opportunities

Morocco presents significant opportunities for APS with a sub-
stantial NPL balance nearing EUR 9 billion. The central bank 
is addressing the banking sector’s NPL volume, creating a fa-
vourable economic and financial landscape. APS is studying 
Morocco’s regulatory framework, laying the groundwork for 
potential collaborations and investments. This exploration re-
flects our commitment to expanding our reach, utilizing our ex-
pertise, and delivering value to stakeholders. Moving forward, 
APS remains dedicated to proactive business development, 
driving success in debt collection and alternative investments. 
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Bulgaria

2023
The year 2023 was quite busy for APS Bulgaria. The team par-
ticipated in numerous projects – mostly smaller ones – and won 
and successfully onboarded three of them, which are perform-
ing cumulatively according to expectations. The total number of 
onboarded debtors was 8,000. The Company has developed 
successful collaborations with STIK CREDIT and CREDISIMMO, 
both leading financial institutions in digital consumer financing 
in Bulgaria. After signing the projects STIK CREDIT in 2023 and 
CREDISIMMO 3, we are currently working intensively with our 
partners to onboard new projects for 2024. APS Bulgaria will 
also focus on acquiring a new corporate portfolio, which will be 
added on top of the already-onboarded LION II.

2024
APS plan for 2024 is to maintain this pace of active participation 
and build new bridges of connections within the local market. 
We have had time to turn our attention to various charitable 
causes with full involvement of the Company’s staff. On the cur-
rent market every new year is a challenge for the team, but the 
management is certain the yearly targets will be met. 

Croatia
2023
In 2023, the APS Croatia investment strategy was characterized 
by proactive measures to seize new market opportunities. The 
acquisition of APS REO Sunrise emerged as a standout achieve-
ment, significantly bolstering our asset portfolio and amplifying 
revenue streams. Remarkably, APS REO Sunrise exceeded ini-
tial forecasts, reaching breakeven ahead of schedule. Further-
more, we assisted in securing two new portfolios backed by 98 
real-estate assets through a  tender process. These portfolios 
showcased the ability to identify and capitalize on unique in-
vestment opportunities in the market. In addition to the invest-
ment endeavours, the new business development initiatives in 
2023 made. A robust foundation for charting the path for 2024, 
with a focus on further expanding our portfolio, pursuing private 
lending opportunities, and strategically evaluating market dy-
namics to identify avenues for consolidation and growth. 

2024
In 2024, APS Croatia remains dedicated to strategic growth and 
market leadership. In light of the evolving regulatory landscape 
post-NPL licensing, the team will conduct thorough market as-
sessments to identify opportunities for potential consolidation, 

leveraging our expertise to optimize APS position in the market. 
Additionally, the company is poised to intensify its focus on REO 
strategy, capitalizing on market trends and opportunities to fur-
ther enhance the asset portfolio and revenue streams. These 
initiatives reflect the commitment to adaptability, innovation, and 
sustained value creation as we continue to navigate and thrive 
in dynamic market conditions.

Czech Republic
2023
In 2023, APS managed to continue the trend of increasing the 
company’s  revenues. APS team of specialists was fully stabi-
lized, the entity   completed development and implementation 
of new software that allows it a full automative management of 
car repossession projects, the area where the company posi-
tions itself as one of the largest servicers for local financial com-
panies. The company tested the market with bidding on NPL 
sales transactions, but prices achieved in the tenders did not 
allow to complete a new deal with sufficient returns. However, 
APS expanded successfully projects in the area of 3rd-party ser-
vicing and concluded new contracts in this segment of services.

2024
For APS, 2024 will represent a continuation of the trend of con-
solidating its position in the area of 3rd-party servicing, where 
the target is to become the largest car repossession manager. 
to the area of focus represents acquisitions of individual cases 
secured by real estate, projects resolved within the framework 
of insolvency proceedings and on possible acquisitions of NPL 
portfolios from the secondary market.

Greece
2023
In 2023 APS had a good year in Greece with its portfolios de-
livering collections at par compared to the business plan. The 
team encountered a number of odd factors, notably natural dis-
asters and government-imposed bans on calling disaster-struck 
debtors or proceeding with enforcements for over 8 weeks. 
Furthermore, the repeated rounds of elections and strikes by 
lawyers and notaries slowed down progress with court actions. 

In terms of upgrading business sophistication, we expanded our 
ecosystem of trusted business partners with an emphasis on 
real estate asset management services spanning onboarding, 
maturing, and selling.



2024
The new year of 2024 starts with the relicensing process for 
all licensed servicers operating in Greece, arising from the in-
creased regulatory requirements of the new law 5072/2023. 
The process is led by the Bank of Greece and supervised by 
the Directorate for Private Debt of the Ministry of Finance. APS, 
committed to high ESG standards, had already been preparing 
ahead of the process, with continuous investments in people, 
processes, and systems, with an emphasis on risk management 
and compliance. The Company’s self-service portal for debtors 
featuring the same authentication standards as e-banking plat-
forms will be ready for use after many months of development.

Furthermore, APS in-house legal execution teams shall be ex-
tended with the aim to selectively re-onshore assignments to 
external partners.

Following a  successful conclusion to the relicensing process, 
APS plans to take advantage of its potential in playing an active 
role in the consolidation of the Greek servicer market.

Meanwhile APS business footprint in Greece will continue grow-
ing. The focus remains SME secured portfolios with additional 
loan portfolios, notably secondary carve outs, currently under 
discussion.

Hungary
2023
After 2022, APS faced new challenges in 2023 as inflation 
erupted all over Europe and in Hungary especially reaching 
20+%, which pushed the local economy into a  recession. The 
company successfully managed to open up new business lines 
in the bridge financing area and also managed to close several 
opportunistic real-estate acquisitions. APS participated in multi-
ple tenders for the acquisition of new NPL portfolios, but did not 
bid aggressively to preserve our servicing and investment qual-
ity with respect toward our investors. The company’s developed 
and well-tested strategies proved to be efficient and so helped 
it to maintain its profitability and stable operations.

2024
Based on the 2023 achievements, the team is planning to grow 
further and open up an unsecured collection business line for 
both acquisition and servicing building on APS international 
presence and niche expertise. The company also plans to keep 
an opportunistic approach toward finding profitable and secure 

investments. The NPL market will resurrect and provide further 
flows to APS core business activities. 

Montenegro 
2023
The second half of 2023 was marked by strong efforts to ensure 
the expected collection results even though the company expe-
rienced some pushback that affected our results. They were also 
affected by the fact that the business environment was marked 
by considerable tension, resulting from unstable governmental 
and institutional conditions. These factors have deterred foreign 
investors, which was a reason why large cases did not present 
more opportunities beyond the local market. These issues may 
be gradually resolved in 2024.

2024
The year 2024 is expected to be challenging in recovering from 
the losses incurred in 2023 and pursuing success. To this end, 
the team remains committed to meeting the recovery plans 
as the top priority, closing a  new contemplated share deal in 
Montenegro, and maintaining a  firm base for purchasing new 
portfolios by securing a  license that will enhance the compa-
ny’s  market position and provide expanded opportunities for 
NPL acquisitions, a task on which we have been working very 
hard and persistently.

Poland
2023  
The year 2023 ended with assisting a Polish SPV winning tender 
for the purchase of secured NPLs from the largest Polish bank, 
PKO BP SA - a retail portfolio and an SME portfolio, both secured 
by real estate assets. A number of long-term cooperation agree-
ments with Polish leading banks, has also been signed recently 
enabling the company a simplified access to tender participa-
tions. As a  result, APS has again become visible on the local 
receivables market.

Concerning the company’s  recovery activities, APS has been 
delivering at par recoveries for the portfolios of both securiti-
zation funds, MONTON and VPF III, thus satisfying investors’ 
expectations.

2024
The year 2024 will be equally intense in terms of bank tenders; 

Highlights
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the company will take an active part in them and ultimately in-
tends to purchase at least one additional mortgage portfolio.

Due to the portfolios APS already services and the prospects for 
further purchases, the company is constantly developing human 
resources to increase the efficiency of debt collection. The legal 
department will be expanded and an automation in the area of 
internal and external reporting is planned. 

In 2024, the company will also focus on increasing its network 
of contacts, both banking and non-banking, and will focus on 
repossessing collateral and active participation in receivables 
trading. 

Romania
2023
APS Romania finished 2023 surpassing expectations, closing at 
130% versus bottom line budget. APS experienced an intense 
end of the year with revenues generated from some large cor-
porate positions and the company managed to do so without 
depleting as many of the top cases as predicted, with great help 
from the company’s contact sales, soft collection, and enforce-
ment departments, who have managed to produce margins for 
APS Romania at a record level.

The company kept scaling up its contact centre. APS also con-
tinued the search for servicing deals that are well balanced in 
terms of revenue versus effort. We kept looking at new opportu-
nities in the market, trying to be creative and flexible and match-
ing the market’s status quo.

On the new deals front, APS onboarded the Osiris retail unse-
cured portfolio. 

In addition, 2023 was the first full year with a new management 
structure for APS Romania, leaner, with a  more concentrated 
and accountable organizational chart. 

2024
2024 is expected to be a year of consolidation. With a strong 
deal pipeline, diverse opportunities and a  serious amount of 
drive, the company has now the chance to accumulate stock 
and new business for the years to come. All while bearing in 
mind the vision for responsible and sustainable growth. 
The business is starting this year with several big deals on the 

table, alternating from portfolios, REO companies to share deals, 
with huge efforts put into due diligence work. A special mention 
is warranted for the fact that APS is very close to sealing the deal 
on the largest secured portfolio on the Romanian market in the 
past 5 years. 

In the corporate and retail secured divisions, the teams are fo-
cused on maintaining collections at the level of business plans 
and satisfying investor requirements and also closing some of 
the large tickets that have seen delays from 2023. In the sales, 
soft collection, and enforcement departments, we are focused 
on delivering even better results than last year.

Serbia
2023
In 2023, the trend of downsizing the company continued. The 
merger of two companies into the service provider was com-
pleted, resulting in a reduced number of employees who suc-
cessfully adapted to remote work. Despite all the challenges, 
the company found a way to generate revenue by collecting on 
three major cases within one portfolio and acquiring two claims 
that were then collected through further assignment and assets 
from bankruptcy.

2024
The year 2024 brings new challenges in completing status 
changes and further planning mergers, with the idea of main-
taining three entities in Serbia. The number of employees was 
further downsized. Focus was placed on the smaller claims re-
maining in the portfolios and assessing the potential for collec-
tion. A potential portfolio acquisition in Serbia would help the 
company remain competitive in the market.

Highlights

45



CORPORATE 
SOCIAL 

RESPONSIBILITY

12



Corporate Social Responsibility

We do 'n t live in a vacuum. Our awareness of the pressing is-
sues of  our times galvanized us into action.  We prepared ro-
bust strategy aimed at making an impact. This strategy is an-
chored  in  three  primary  pillars:  philanthropy,  environmental  
stewardship, and support for non-governmental organizations 
focused on aiding the elderly. This is the core of our CSR activ-
ities on a company level. Furthermore, APS is a vibrant hub of 
employee-driven grassroots initiatives and fundraising efforts 
designed to  back various causes,  a culture that  pervades all  
our  offices  globally.  We  back  those  activities  with  charitable  
competitions like Each Step Count, a team walking challenge. 
The winner gets to pick a charity and support it. 

The grassroots charitable activities initiated by our employees 
take our philanthropic efforts to a new level. We believe in the 
ripple  effect  of  change  that  starts  from  within,  driven  by  the  
passion and dedication of our team members. This approach 
not  only  contributes  to  societal  change  but  also  cultivates  
a workplace culture steeped in compassion and proactive in-
volvement.

Our  philanthropic  endeavours  have  been  particularly  chan-
nelled  through  our  Seeding  Knowledge  Foundation,  which  
is  committed  to  uplifting  social  groups  at  risk  of  being  over-
looked.  We  cooperated  with  several  organisations  providing  
help to society. 

For  APS,  aiding  the  elderly  transcends  corporate  obligation,  
touching the very essence of our organizational ethos. Our col-
laboration with Elpida exemplifies this commitment. Elpida not 
only  publishes Vital,  a magazine tailored for  seniors  but  also  
operates a centre offering a plethora of seminars and activities 
designed to enrich the lives of the elderly.

Moreover, APS champions education and equal opportunities, 
especially for women facing challenging social circumstances. 
This commitment is evidenced by our support for Metráž, an or-
ganization that advocates for sustainable fashion, zero waste, 
and the repurposing of materials deemed otherwise useless. 
Our partnership with Metráž is built on a foundation of mutual 
dedication  to  creating  a  continuum  of  care,  respect,  and  joy  
across different strata of society.

Recognizing our responsibility towards the environment, APS 
is committed to minimizing our carbon footprint. This commit-
ment led to relocating our company headquarters to a building 
that  boasts  higher  energy  efficiency  and  adopting  practices  
that significantly reduce our reliance on paper. We also collab-
orated on tree-planting campaign in the Czech Republic. Our 
Greek team helped to clean the beach in the cooperation with 
the  Hellenic  Loan  Servicers  Association.  They  demonstrated  
dedication  to  environment  preservation  and  community  en-
gagement as they made a positive impact on the local coastal 
wetland of Agios Nikolaos.

Our CSR activities are a testament to our belief that meaningful 
change can be done every day. We strive to lead by example, 
encouraging  others  in  our  industry  and  beyond  to  join  us  in  
making a positive impact on the world.

At APS, we view corporate social responsibility as a fundamental ethical duty to foster 
positive change in the communities across our European markets. Since our company DNA 
consists one of the highest ethical standards in the industry. We firmly believe that company 
should back up our words with direct action!
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Compliance

The function’s priorities remained closely intertwined with the 
group’s overarching corporate objectives, particularly in such 
areas as optimizing asset management and recovery practic-
es, adhering to the requirements outlined in the NPL Directive, 
bolstering cybersecurity measures, advancing digitalization ef-
forts, and fostering a compliance culture with an emphasis on 
environmental and social considerations. Additionally, efforts 
were directed towards streamlining critical processes and rein-
forcing the internal control framework.

In 2023, additional experts joined APS Compliance team. With 
geopolitical unrest, economic instability, banking failures, sus-
tainability challenges, crypto-assets, and new technologies as 
the backdrop, APS Group needs to be able to rely on an ef-
fective and efficient compliance function to steer through the 
labyrinth of associated regulations.

The Group Compliance function conducts risk monitoring, 
facilitates internal compliance control, and is responsible for 
reporting significant compliance matters to the relevant execu-
tive and supervisory corporate bodies to ensure effective over-
sight of compliance within the group. 

EU Directive 2021/2167 on credit servicers and credit purchas-
ers (also known as the “NPL Directive”) took effect on 28 De-
cember 2021, with the deadline for implementation in all mem-
ber states being 29 December 2023. Of the countries where 
APS operates, only Croatia and Greece transposed the NPL 
Directive in a timely manner.

Within APS Group, we have made preparations for compliance 
with the new regulation and obtaining licenses as a  priority 
starting at the beginning of the year, with continuous knowl-
edge exchange within our operating countries. 

APS Group has historically established robust regulatory com-
pliance mechanisms, and so preparations for the transforma-
tion of recovery entities into fully regulated financial institu-
tions represents an augmentation and formalization of existing 
principles and procedures.

For APS Credit Fund SICAV (a regulated fund domiciled in the 
Czech Republic), Compliance verified that the fund met its 
obligations regarding the identification and management of 
conflicts of interest. This involved evaluating potential adverse 
impacts from transactions with a potential conflict of interest 
and implementing measures to prevent such impacts, with 
documentation of these actions in written protocols. Through-
out the reporting period, no transactions with adverse impacts 
due to conflicts of interest occurred. Additionally, Compliance 
focused on monitoring whether obligations were met upon 
investor entry, particularly emphasizing the completion of in-
vestment questionnaires. In this regard, Compliance found no 
deficiencies.

AML-CFT

Compliance continued its implementation of work streams 
dedicated to systems and data management, periodic reviews 
for Know Your Customer regulations, reviews of politically 
exposed persons, and the ongoing rollout of the risk-based 
approach. Additionally, we continued to bolster our practices 
through an audit of record-keeping to ensure the retention 
of all required information and evidence, stored within com-
pliance folders with restricted access. Nevertheless, all em-
ployees were required to complete mandatory training aimed 
at recognizing money-laundering risks, becoming familiar with 
relevant anti-money laundering (AML) and sanction laws, and 
understanding internal APS procedures to meet their compli-
ance obligations.

In 2023, APS Compliance proceeded with its ongoing development and refinement  
of processes and systems, while concurrently realigning its focus to serve as the second and 
third lines of defence. This involved identifying relevant synergies and preparing to provide 
support for APS Group endeavours.
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APS has long guaranteed protection for whistleblowers, partly 
through the Whistleblowing Committee, which has the aim of 
managing and monitoring whistleblowing metrics and retalia-
tion reports, including consideration of potential whistleblow-
ing trends that might emerge. All APS entities adjusted their 
internal whistleblowing processes according to national stand-
ards and regulations.

At APS, we prioritize the protection of personal data and con-
sistently adapt our procedures and policies to address the 
evolving challenges posed by digitization and remote work. 
Consequently, we are continually enhancing our policies, pro-
cesses, and technical and organizational measures in this re-
gard. To fortify our existing measures, an external GDPR and 
cybersecurity audit was concluded by year’s end, with subse-
quent implementation of the recommendations provided.

Over the course of 2023, APS Group undertook an internal 
analysis of its perimeter and preparedness concerning com-
pliance with the Digital Resilience Operational Act. We have 
delineated areas necessitating enhancement to ensure align-
ment with contemporary technological advancements and reg-
ulatory mandates in the forthcoming period. Within APS Group, 
we pay sufficient attention to each step in this process and 
ensure effective coordination between different departments 
and stakeholders.

ESG

APS Group remained steadfast in upholding environmental, 
social, and governance (ESG) principles while maintaining 
a commitment to responsible and ethical debt recovery prac-
tices. Recognizing our broader social responsibility, we active-
ly engaged with debtors with empathy and understanding, 
ensuring fair treatment and offering support to those facing fi-
nancial challenges. Our approach not only prioritized the finan-
cial recovery process but also aimed to positively impact the 
lives of debtors by providing resources and assistance tailored 
to their individual needs. By integrating ESG considerations, 
responsible debt recovery practices, and a commitment to fos-
tering positive social impact on debtors, we demonstrated our 
dedication to ethical conduct and community welfare.

At the same time, the integration of ESG principles catalysed 
a transformative shift to the equally important asset-manage-
ment business line, driving a comprehensive approach that pri-
oritized environmental sustainability, social responsibility, and 
rigorous governance standards across all facets of our opera-
tions and investment strategies.

Compliance
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MARKET SITUATION
After the turbulent year of 2022 when the macroeconomic situa-
tion in Europe was heavily impacted by the Russian invasion into 
Ukraine, 2023 was a year of gradual normalization. The prices 
of energy inputs and raw materials in general declined closer 
to pre-war levels. The European Central Bank and other central 
banks in the region continued to pursue a restrictive monetary 
policy, helping to decrease inflation. Though pricing stability has 
returned, the disruption in market conditions and the prevailing 
high interest rates has put many businesses under financial stre-
ss. This may become even more visible when those businesses 
will be refinancing their existing debts, which will mean a major 
increase in their financing costs. The “higher for longer” market 
environment is likely to impact more companies than originally 
expected. 

While the size of NPL portfolios offered to the market by the 
banks operating in the region decreased in recent years, banks 
still continue to clean up their balance sheets through series of 
smaller transactions featuring both retail and corporate port-
folios. In addition, a major consolidation process has occurred 
amongst NPL players themselves. NPL servicers, who were 
originally buying portfolios on their balance sheets with cheap 
leverage, have been struggling to repay their commitments 
now that funding is significantly more expensive. Others just do 
not have critical mass within certain territories and are leaving 
specific geographies. In addition, secondary market transacti-
ons appear on markets where private investors have held large 
chunks of NPLs and are currently looking for liquidity.

STRATEGY AND COMPETITION 
APS has continued in its journey from an NPL servicer and in-
vestment manager to a discretionary asset manager targeting 
distressed-debt assets. Its successful fundraising activities in 
the Czech Republic through retail SICAV funds have contributed 
positively to this strategy. The Group focuses mostly on acqui-
sition of corporate secured claims, but depending on terms of 
specific transactions it can acquire also retail NPLs. Its servicing 
arm has been withdrawing from markets with limited investment 
potential (Serbia and Bosnia & Herzegovina) but fortifying its po-
sitions on its traditional markets with still high volumes of NPL 
receivables in the banking sector (Romania, Greece, and Po-

land). The company has also been opportunistically eying other 
players in the industry planning to exit certain markets within 
Central and Eastern Europe (CEE) to potentially acquire them. 
APS is also studying opportunities to enter new markets in Wes-
tern Europe.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
This document presents the financial statements for the finan-
cial year of 1 January 2023–31 December 2023. The Board of 
Directors believes that the financial statements provide an ac-
curate picture of the assets and financial situation of APS for the 
respective year. The financial statements are presented in ac-
cordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards 
adopted by the European Union and have been audited by De-
loitte Audit S.à r.l.

PROFIT AND LOSS

GOING CONCERN AND OUTLOOK 
The annual financial statements have been prepared on a going 
concern basis, and it is the opinion of the Board of Directors that 
the financial statements provide a fair presentation of our busi-
ness and financial results. 

HUMAN RESOURCES 
At APS, we strive to establish long-term relationships with our 
staff built on trust and mutual respect. We provide our employe-
es with working conditions designed to motivate them to achieve 
their optimal performance. One of our primary focuses is on fos-
tering a strong company culture characterized by friendliness, 
collaboration, and inclusivity. We believe that a positive work en-
vironment is essential for both employee satisfaction and orga-
nizational success. Furthermore, we are committed to providing 
opportunities for professional development and growth. At APS, 
we recognize that only our qualified and motivated employees 
enable us to succeed in the highly demanding and competitive 
distressed-asset market. Throughout the year, we organize va-
rious team-building activities for our employees to foster team 
spirit. Additionally, we offer workshops to enhance both soft 
skills and professional qualifications. By prioritizing a  positive 
work culture, well-being, and professional development, we aim 
to create an environment where employees can thrive and con-



tribute to the success of our organization. Moreover, at APS, we 
adhere to all applicable legal working regulations for employers. 
Compliance with both legal and internal regulations is subject to 
regular monitoring, and any irregularities are addressed prompt-
ly through the implementation of remedial plans.

ESG 
In the contemporary corporate landscape, integrating envi-
ronmental, social, and governance (ESG) principles into every-
day business operations is not merely a matter of ethical obliga-
tion but a significant strategic advantage. At APS, our adherence 
to ESG standards is not only foundational to our operations but 
is also pivotal in bolstering our reputation across the global st-
age. This dedication is underpinned by our stringent adherence 
to the social and environmental standards set forth by the World 
Bank and its International Finance Corporation (IFC) subsidiary, 
ensuring our practices meet international benchmarks.

Human Capital and Social Responsibility
At APS, we believe in nurturing human capital and ensuring 
the well-being of our community. Through our partnership 
with Elpida, we extend comprehensive support to the elderly: 
publishing the magazine Vital and hosting various seminars 
that enrich their lives beyond the basic necessities. Similarly, 
our support for Metráž demonstrates our commitment to em-
powering women in difficult social situations, championing 
initiatives in sustainable fashion and zero waste that resona-
te with their needs and aspirations.

Responsible Collection and Community Engagement
Our collection practices are defined by a  foundational 
commitment to ethics and responsibility, aligning with broa-
der ESG goals that respect both individual circumstances 
and the larger community. Through the Seeding Knowledge 
Foundation, we channel our efforts into long-term projects 
aimed at empowering marginalized social groups, ensuring 
that our impact is both meaningful and enduring.

Environmental Stewardship
Environmental responsibility is a cornerstone of our opera-
tional ethos. By relocating to a more energy-efficient office 
and transitioning towards paperless processes, we have 
significantly reduced our carbon footprint. Our ongoing 
collaborations, such as with Újezdský strom for tree plan-
ting and the Hellenic Loan Servicers Association for beach 
clean-up initiatives, underscore our commitment to ecolo-
gical preservation.

Local and Global Community Support
Our global community initiatives reflect a  deep-seated 
commitment to making a positive impact. From food donati-
ons to animal shelters in Luxembourg to various local charity 
work, APS consistently seeks opportunities to contribute be-
neficially and substantially to societies worldwide.

Supporting Our Foundation
We provide stakeholders with opportunities to directly eng-
age with and support our foundation’s activities. This invol-
vement not only extends the reach of our ESG efforts but 
also deepens the impact of our collaborative initiatives, crea-
ting lasting benefits for communities and environments alike.

Conclusion
APS’s dedication to integrating ESG principles into every fa-
cet of our operations is demonstrative of our commitment to 
not just meeting but exceeding the rigorous social and en-
vironmental standards set by renowned institutions like the 
World Bank and its IFC subsidiary. As we continue to forge 
paths in ESG compliance, our focus remains steadfast on 
enhancing our corporate reputation and making a positive, 
measurable impact on the world.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
APS did not perform any activities in the field of research and 
development during 2023.

MAJOR ACHIEVEMENTS 
APS continued to be active on the CEE NPL markets in terms 
of both servicing and investments. Its market insights combined 
with operational experience contributed again to outstanding 
collection results. Our teams on the ground collected the aggre-
gate amount of EUR 77 million last year. APS has already servi-
ced a total of 121 portfolios.

In 2023, with support from APS, 17 new portfolios were acqui-
red, amounting to a  total purchase price exceeding EUR 50 
million. A number of other transactions were in various stages 
of processing and are due to be completed in 2024. In terms 
of funding, the company also launched numerous initiatives to 
secure sufficient funding for future transactions. For example, 
the company launched the second sub-fund of APS Credit Fund 
Sicav: Rhapsody II, to which investors contributed the aggregate 
amount of EUR 28 million. 

Directors’ Report
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AML 
anti-money laundering

AUM 
assets under management

BD 
Business Development division

B2B 
business-to-business

B2C 
business-to-customer

CCB 
Cyprus Coopertive Bank

CE 
Central Europe

CEE 
Central and Eastern Europe

CEO 
Chief Executive Officer

CESEE 
Central, Eastern, and South-eastern 
Europe

CFO 
Chief Financial Officer

CFT 
countering the financing of terror-
ism

CIO 
Chief Investment Officer

CIS 
Commonwealth of Independent 
States

COO 
Chief Operation Officer

COVID-19 
Coronavirus disease 2019

CSR 
corporate social responsibility

EBA 
European Banking Authority

EBRD 
European Bank for Reconstruction 
and Development

ECB 
European Central Bank

EY 
Ernst and Young

FCCA 
Fellow Member of the Chartered 
Association of Certified Accoun-
tants

GDPR  
General Data Protection Regulation

GDV 
gross development value

HNWI  
high-net-worth individual

IAS 
International Accounting Standards

IFC 
International Finance Corporation

IFRS 
International Financial Reporting 
Standards

IPO  
initial public offering

IRR 
internal rate of return

IT 
information technology

IVR 
interactive voice response

MED 
Mediterranean Sea region

NGO 
non-governmental organization

NPL 
non-performing loan

NV 
nominal value

PR 
public relations

RAIF 
Reserved Alternative Investment 
Fund

REO 
real estate owned

SEE 
South-eastern Europe

SPL 
sub-performing loan

AUT 
Austria
BA 
Bosnia and Herzegovina
BG 
Bulgaria
CY 
Cyprus
CZ 
Czech Republic
ESP 
Spain
GR 
Greece
HR 
Croatia
HU 
Hungary
IT 
Italy
LU 
Luxembourg
ME 
Montenegro
RO 
Romania
RS 
Serbia
SI 
Slovenia
SK 
Slovakia
UA 
Ukraine
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Financial Statements

Continuing operations notes 31. 12. 2023 31. 12. 2022
(restated)1

Revenue from NPL portfolio servicing 6.1 15 467 17 629
Interest income on purchased loan portfolios 6.1 11 975 1 617

Other operating revenues 6.1 4 803 5 177

Operating revenue 32 245 24 422
Administrative expenses 6.2 -22 481 -18 770
Other operating expenses 6.2 -131 -169
Total operating expenses -22 613 -18 939
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 7.3 -111 -192
Amortisation of intangible assets 7.1 -761 -754
Depreciation of ROU Assets 7.4 -930 -877
Impairment gain/loss from POCI portfolios 2 672 -804
Operating profit 10 503 2 857

Net exchange gains/(losses) 6.3 -425 -445
Interest income 6.3 818 371
Interest expenses 6.3 -7 361 -1 154
Interest expense on lease liability 6.3 -189 -173
Other Finance Income/Costs net 6.3 -1 629 1 725
Net financial result -8 785 323

Profit or loss for the year before tax 1 718 3 180
Current tax 6.4 -300 -443
Deferred tax 6.4 4 63
Profit or loss for the year after tax from continuing operations 1 422 2 800

Other comprehensive income, net of tax (susequently reclassified 
through P&L) 7.10 278 434

Total comprehensive income   for the year, net of tax 1 700 3 234

PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Parent company shareholders 588 2 313
Non-controlling interests 834 487

TOTAL Profit/Loss for the period 1 422 2 800

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Parent company shareholders 855 2 735
Non-controlling interests 844 500

Note: The accompanying notes on pages 61 to 104 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

1 The comparative information has been restated as disclosed in note 3.4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
APS Holding S.A. – Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive inco-
me as at 31 December 2023

 In thousands of Euro
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Financial Statements

notes 31.12.2023 31.12.2022 
(restated)1

Non-current assets
Goodwill 7.1 6 824 6 824
Intangible assets 7.1 2 795 3 293
Property, Plant and equipment 7.2 289 274
Right of use Assets 7.3 2 270 2 939
Purchased loan portfolios 7.5 68 432 67 824
Loans and other receivables 7.5 7 403 1 390
Other long term financial assets 7.5 68 20
Total non-current assets 88 081 82 564
Current assets
Loan receivables 7.5 128 284
Trade and other receivables 7.5 5 740 6 428
Other short term assets 7.5 3 676 9 094
Cash and short term deposits 7.5 18 807 18 860
Total current assets 28 351 34 666
Assets classified as held for sale 67 0
Total assets 116 499 117 230

Consolidated statement of financial position
APS Holding S.A. –  Consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023

 In thousands of Euro

Equity
Share capital 7.10 31 31
Other capital reserves 7.10 6 222 5 868
Retained earnings 7.10 8 673 8 085

Total equity attributable to parent company shareholders 7.10 14 926 13 984
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests 7.11 1 904 1 396
Total equity 16 830 15 380

Non-current liabilities
Bank and other loans 7.6 18 537 40 077
Long term lease liability 7.3 1 745 2 365
Issued bonds 7.5 43 536 35 110
Deferred tax liabilities 7.7 147 155
Other long term liabilities 7.6 68 237
Total non-current liabilities 64 033 77 944
Current liabilities
Short-term bank and other loans 7.6 18 837 9 419
Trade and other payables 7.8 15 013 8 445
Short term Lease liability 7.3 832 771
Current tax payables 139 45
Provisions and other short-term liabilities 7.9 802 5 226
Total current liabilities 35 623 23 906
 Liabilities classified as Held for sale 13 0

Total equity & liabilities 116 499 117 230

5858
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Share 
capital   

Other 
capital 

contribu-
tions

Retained 
earnings

Profit 
or loss 
for the 
period

Tran-
slation 
reserve

TOTAL
Non-con-

trolling 
interest

Total 
Equity

Balance at 1 January 2022 31 7 167 6 005 - (2 219) 10 984 1 026 12 010
Correction of prior period1 (189) (189) (189)

Corrected balance at 1 January 2022 31 7 167 5 816 - (2 219) 10 795 1 026 11 821

Changes in equity for period

Profit or (loss) for the period - - 2 313 2 313 487 2 800

Other comprehensive income for the year - - - 420 420 13 433

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 2 313 420 2 734 500 3 233

Dividends for the shareholders - - - - (402) (402)

Profit distribution - - 2 313 (2 313) - -

Capital contributions 500 (44) 456 272 728

Balance at 31 December 2022 (restated)1 31 7 667 8 085 - (1 799) 13 984 1 396 15 380

Changes in equity for period

Profit or (loss) for the period - 588 588 834 1 421

Other comprehensive income for the year - - - 268 268 11 278

Total comprehensive income for the year 588 268 855 844 1 700

Dividends for the shareholders - - (337) (337)

Profit distribution - 588 (588) - -

Capital contributions 87 87 87

Balance at 31 December 2023 31 7 753 8 673 - (1 531) 14 926 1 904 16 830

Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
As of 31 December 2023
 In thousands of Euro
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31.12.2023 31.12.2022  
(restated)1

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before taxation from: 1 718 3 180

Continuing operations              1 718 3 180
Adjustments for non-cash items:

-818 -371
7 550 1 327

0 -314
1 802 1 822

-2 672 804
439 154

Finance income 
Finance cost, including lease liability

Gain/Loss on disposal of subsidiary
Depreciation of intangible asset, property, plant and equipment 
Impairment (gains)/losses, net of reversals, on financial assets 

Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Other adjustments - 32 -2 644

7 986 3 958
Changes in working capital
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 7 382 -7 371
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 3 083 1 978
Other adjustments -252 168

Cash generated from operations 18 199 -1 267
Interest paid -2 905 -772
Income taxes paid -61 -491
Net cash from operating activities 15 233 -2 530

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 72 36
Proceeds from sale of subsidiary 0 143
Acquisition and proceeds of subsidiary net of cash acquired 195 0
Purchase of property, plant and equipment -442 -327
Purchase of loan portfolios -19 -61 641
Loan granted to external party -7 017 -1 030
Repayment of loan granted to external party 716 1 990
Net cash (used in)/from investing activities -6 495 -60 829

Cash flows from financing activities
-337 -200

1 349 34 891
-8 379 -2 854
2 500 34 620
-3 768 -1 030

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayments of borrowings
Proceeds from issued bonds
Repayment of issued bonds
Net cash (used in)/from financing activities -8 635 65 427
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 103 2 068

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 18 860 16 928
Foreign exchange gains and (losses) on cash and cash equivalents -156 -136
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 18 807 18 860

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
APS Holding S.A. Consolidated Cash Flow as at 31 December 2023
 In thousands of Euro

Note: The accompanying notes on pages 61 to 104 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
1 The comparative information has been restated as disclosed in note 3.4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the period ended 31 December 2023

1  General Information

1.1	 Company and group information 

APS Holding S.A. (the Company) is a  Company limited 
by shares incorporated and registered in Luxembourg. 
Its shareholder is Mr. Martin Machoň. The address of the 
Company’s registered office is at 46A, Avenue J.F. Kenne-
dy, L-1855 Luxembourg. 

The Company is administered by members of the Board 
of Directors and is not further divided into any specific or-
ganizational parts or units.

The reporting period is 1.1.2023 to 31.12.2023 and compar-
ative period is 1.1.2022 to 31.12.2022. 

APS Holding and its subsidiaries are the “Group”.

The principal activities of the Group are non-performing 
loans (NPL) recovery services, NPL portfolio underwriting 
services, asset management services and fund manage-
ment services across Central and South-Eastern Europe. 
The Group’s main business activities entail advising and 
servicing NPL portfolios, debt recovery services as well 
as distressed asset recovery investment services.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in 
thousands of Euros (EUR) and are rounded to the nearest 
thousand. Foreign operations are included in accordance 
with the policies set out in section 3. 

Financial Statements have been prepared on going con-
cern basis.

2  Adoption of new and revised IFRS Account-
ing Standards

2.1	 New and revised IFRS Accounting Standards that 
are effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following 
amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards issued by 
the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and 
adopted by the EU that are effective for an annual period 
that begins on or after 1 January 2023. Their adoption did 
not materially impact the disclosures or the amounts re-
ported in these consolidated financial statements.

•	 New standard IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts including 
the June 2020 and December 2021 Amendments to 
IFRS 17

•	 Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies

•	 Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

•	 Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets 
and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

•	 Amendments to IAS 12 International Tax Reform —  
Pillar Two Model Rules

2.2	 New and revised IFRS Accounting Standards in is-
sue and adopted by the EU but not yet effective

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated finan-
cial statements, the Group has not applied the following 
revised IFRS Accounting Standards that have been issued 
by IASB and adopted by EU but are not yet effective:

•	 Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and 
Leaseback (effective 1 January 2024)

•	 Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as 
Current or Non-Current and Classification of Liabilities 
as Current or Non-Current - Deferral of Effective Date 
(effective 1 January 2024)

•	 Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Cov-
enants (effective 1 January 2024)

•	 Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 Supplier Finance 
Arrangements (effective 1 January 2024)

2.3	 New and revised IFRS Accounting Standards in is-
sue but not adopted by the EU

At present, IFRS accounting standards as adopted by the 
EU do not significantly differ from IFRS accounting stand-
ards adopted by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB) except for the following new standard and 
amendments to the existing standards, which were not 
adopted by the EU by the date of authorisation of these 
financial statements:



•	 IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosures in Financial 
Statements (IASB effective date: 1 January 2027)

•	 IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Dis-
closure (IASB effective date: 1 January 2027)

•	 Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Amendments to 
the Classification and Measurement of Financial Instru-
ments (IASB effective date: 1 January 2026)

•	 Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribu-
tion of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or 
Joint Venture and further amendments (effective date 
deferred by IASB indefinitely but earlier application 
permitted). Endorsement process postponed indefi-
nitely until the research project on the equity method 
has been concluded

•	 Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability (IASB 
effective date: 1 January 2025)

The Group anticipates that the adoption of IFRS 18 will have 
an impact on the presentation of the Consolidated financial 
statements. The Group anticipates that the adoption of the 
other new standards and amendments to the existing stand-
ards will have no material impact on the consolidated finan-
cial statements of the Group in the period of initial application.

3	 Significant accounting policies

3.1	 Basis of accounting

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been pre-
pared in accordance with the IFRS Accounting Standards 
as adopted by the European Union (EU).

The financial statements have been prepared on the his-
torical cost basis, except for certain financial assets that 
are valued at fair value as explained in the accounting pol-
icies below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair 
value of the consideration given in exchange for goods 
and services.

The Groups presentation currency is Euro (EUR).

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an 
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date, re-
gardless of whether that price is directly observable or es-

timated using another valuation technique. In estimating 
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into 
account the characteristics of the asset or liability market 
participants would take into account when pricing the as-
set or liability at the measurement date.

3.2	 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the fi-
nancial statements of the Company and entities controlled 
by the Company (its subsidiaries) made up to 31 Decem-
ber each year with the limitation described in section 3.1. 
Control is achieved when the Company:

•	 has the power over the investee;

•	 is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its 
involvement with the investee; and

•	 has the ability to use its power to affects its returns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an 
investee when facts and circumstances indicate that there 
are changes to one or more of the three elements of con-
trol listed above.

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting 
rights of an investee, it considers that it has power over 
the investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it 
the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the 
investee unilaterally. The Company considers all relevant 
facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the 
Company’s  voting rights in an investee are sufficient to 
give it power, including:

•	 the size of the Company’s holding of voting rights rela-
tive to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other 
vote holders;

•	 potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote 
holders or other parties;

•	 rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

•	 any additional facts and circumstances that indicate 
that the Company has, or does not have, the current 
ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that 
decisions need to be made, including voting patterns 
at previous shareholders’ meetings.
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Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company 
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 
Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, the 
results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the 
year are included in profit or loss from the date the Com-
pany gains control until the date when the Company ceas-
es to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive 
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to 
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income 
of the subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Com-
pany and to the non-controlling interests even if this results 
in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial 
statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies 
used into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, ex-
penses and cash flows relating to transactions between 
the members of the Group are eliminated on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified sep-
arately from the Group’s equity therein. Those interests of 
non-controlling shareholders that are present ownership 
interests entitling their holders to a  proportionate share 
of net assets upon liquidation are initially measured at the 
non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the fair 
value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Subsequent 
to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling inter-
ests is the amount of those interests at initial recognition 
plus the non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent 
changes in equity. Total comprehensive income is attrib-
uted to non-controlling interests even if this results in the 
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Group’s  interests in subsidiaries that do 
not result in a  loss of control are accounted for as equi-
ty transactions. The carrying amount of the Group’s  in-
terests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to 
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsid-
iaries. Any difference between the amount by which the 
non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of 
the consideration paid or received is recognized directly 
in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the gain or 
loss on disposal recognized in profit or loss is calculated as 
the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value 
of the consideration received and the fair value of any re-
tained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the 
assets (including goodwill), less liabilities of the subsidiary 
and any non-controlling interests. All amounts previous-
ly recognized in other comprehensive income in relation 
to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had 
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the 
subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to 
another category of equity as required/permitted by ap-
plicable IFRS Standards). The fair value of any investment 
retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control 
is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition 
for subsequent accounting under IFRS 9 Financial Instru-
ments when applicable, or the cost on initial recognition of 
an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

The table below illustrates Group entities as of 31 December 
2023; for the Organization chart please refer to section 1.1.
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List of entities in the Group and approach to their consolidation in current and prior reporting period:

Entity % current 
period

% prior 
period Country Measurement 

method

Measurement 
method prior pe-
riod

APS Holding S.A. 100 100 Luxembourg full consolidation full consolidation
APS Recovery a.s. 100 100 Czechia full consolidation full consolidation
APS Investments s.r.o. 100 100 Czechia full consolidation full consolidation
APS Poland S.A. 100 100 Poland full consolidation full consolidation
APS Warsaw sp. z o.o.* 100 100 Poland full consolidation full consolidation
APS Recovery Greece EPE 100 100 Greece full consolidation full consolidation
APS Recovery Greece Credit and 
Loan Servicing S.A.

65,4 65,4 Greece full consolidation full consolidation
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List of entities in the Group and approach to their consolidation in current and prior reporting period:

Entity % current 
period

% prior 
period Country Measurement 

method

Measurement 
method prior pe-
riod

APS Bulgaria E.O.O.D. 100 100 Bulgaria full consolidation full consolidation
APS d.o.o. Beograd 100 100 Serbia full consolidation full consolidation
APS CZ&SK Services s.r.o. 100 100 Czechia full consolidation full consolidation
Asset Portfolio Servicing Romania 
S.R.L.

100 100 Romania full consolidation full consolidation

Casazela Properties S.R.L. 97 97 Romania full consolidation full consolidation
APS Croatia d.o.o. 100 100 Croatia full consolidation full consolidation
APS REO Sunrise d.d. 100 0 Croatia full consolidation n/a
APS Hungary Kft. 100 100 Hungary full consolidation full consolidation
APS Recovery Hungary Kft. 80 80 Hungary full consolidation full consolidation

APS BH d.o.o. 100 100
Bosnia and 
Herzegovina

presented at fair 
value (held for sale)

full consolidation

APS Montenegro D.O.O. Podgorica 100 100 Montenegro full consolidation full consolidation
Casazela d.o.o Beograd-Stari Grad** n/a 100 Serbia n/a full consolidation
Casazela Kft. 100 100 Hungary full consolidation full consolidation
Syndre d.o.o Beograd-Stari Grad*** 100 100 Serbia full consolidation full consolidation
APS REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENTS 
S.R.L. 

95 95 Romania full consolidation full consolidation

APS RED II S.R.L. 100 100 Romania full consolidation full consolidation
LLC "APS Ukraine"*** 100 100 Ukraine full consolidation full consolidation
APS Italy S.R.L. 100 100 Italy full consolidation full consolidation
APS FUND BETA d.o.o. Beograd 100 100 Serbia full consolidation full consolidation
APS Investment Funds S. a r.l. 100 100 Luxembourg full consolidation full consolidation
APS GAMMA s.r.o., in liquidation 100 100 Czechia full consolidation full consolidation
APS ETA S.A. 100 100 Luxembourg full consolidation full consolidation
APS ETA REO SINGLE MEMBER S.A. 100 100 Greece full consolidation full consolidation
APS Delta S.A. 100 100 Luxembourg full consolidation full consolidation
APS BETA, a.s. 100 100 Czechia full consolidation full consolidation
APS Investment s.r.o. 100 100 Slovakia full consolidation full consolidation
APS MIP s.r.o. 100 100 Czechia full consolidation full consolidation
LOAN MANAGEMENT II, a.s. 50 50 Slovakia full consolidation full consolidation
APS Zeta S.A. 100 100 Luxembourg full consolidation full consolidation
APS CREDIT FUND SICAV, a.s. 100 100 Czechia full consolidation full consolidation
APS Theta S.à r.l.**** 100 100 Luxembourg full consolidation n/a
APS Investment S.à r.l.***** 100 100 Luxembourg n/a full consolidation

* APS Warsaw sp. z o.o. was liquidated in January 2023  
** Casazela d.o.o. Beograd-Stari Grad dissolved with legal successor APS d.o.o. Beograd in September 2023
*** Syndre d.o.o. Beograd-Stari Grad, LLC Ukraine were sold during financial year 2023
**** APS Theta S.à r.l. is a newly established company during financial year 2023
***** APS Investments S.à r.l. was liquidated 
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The companies out of scope of the consolidation are com-
panies without significant influence (minority interest less 
than 20%) and holding those investments does not meet 
any further definition of control according to IFRS 10. 

3.3	 Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the ac-
quisition method. The consideration transferred in a busi-
ness combination is measured at fair value, which is cal-
culated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of 
assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the 
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equi-
ty interest issued by the Group in exchange for control of 
the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognized in 
profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired 
and the liabilities assumed are recognized at their fair val-
ue at the acquisition date, except that:

•	 deferred tax assets or liabilities and assets or liabilities 
related to employee benefit arrangements are recog-
nized and measured in accordance with IAS 12 Income 
Taxes and IAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

•	 liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based 
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-
based payment arrangements of the Group entered 
into to replace share-based payment arrangements 
of the acquiree are measured in accordance with IFRS 
2 Share-Based Payments at the acquisition date (see 
below); and

•	 assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held 
for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets 
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are meas-
ured in accordance with that Standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the con-
sideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquir-
er’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) 
over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identi-
fiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after 
reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of 
the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed 
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the 
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree 

and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest 
in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognized immedi-
ately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in 
a  business combination includes contingent considera-
tion arrangement, the contingent consideration is meas-
ured at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part 
of the consideration transferred in a  business combina-
tion. Changes in fair value of the contingent considera-
tion that qualify as measurement period adjustments are 
adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments 
against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are 
adjustments that arise from additional information ob-
tained during the ‘measurement period’ (which cannot ex-
ceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and 
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair val-
ue of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as 
measurement period adjustments depends on how the 
contingent consideration is classified. Contingent con-
sideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured 
at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent set-
tlement is accounted for within equity. Other contingent 
consideration is remeasured to fair value at subsequent 
reporting dates with changes in fair value recognized in 
profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the 
Group’s  previously held interests in the acquired entity 
are remeasured to its acquisition-date fair value and the 
resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognized in profit or loss. 
Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the 
acquisition date that have previously been recognized in 
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or 
loss, where such treatment would be appropriate if that 
interest were disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incom-
plete by the end of the reporting period in which the combi-
nation occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the 
items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provi-
sional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period 
(see above), or additional assets or liabilities are recognized, 
to reflect new information obtained about facts and circum-
stances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, 
would have affected the amounts recognized as of that date.



3.4 	Accounting  policies,  changes  in  accounting  esti-
mates and Errors (IAS8)

During  2023,  the  Group  identified  that  some  of  its  pur-
chased NPL portfolios had been incorrectly classified as 
measured at fair value while they qualified for purchased 
or  originated  credit  impaired  assets  (POCI)  and  as  such  
should  have  been  classified  as  measured  at  amortised  
cost. As a consequence, revenues, expenses and assets 
were impacted and the total assets and equity have been 
overstated. 

During 2023, the Group discovered that in 2022 the com-
panies  APS  FUND  BETA  d.o.o.  Beograd  and  RE  CLASS  
Solutions  d.o.o.  Beograd  Stari-Grad  (in  2023  merged  in  

APS d.o.o. Beograd) were not consolidated. As a conse-
quence,  total  assets  and total  equity  and  liabilities  have  
been understated.

The  errors  have  been  corrected  by  restating  each  of
the  affected  financial  statement  line  item  for  prior  peri-
ods.  The  following  table  summarise  the  impacts  on  the  
Group´s consolidated financial statements:  

Financial Statements

6666

31.12.2022 31.12.2022 
restated difference

17 821 17 629 -192
0 1 617 1 617

5 350 5 176 -173
23 171 24 422 1 251

-19 673 -18 770 903
-19 842 -18 939 903

0 -804 -804
1 506 2 857 1 351

2 549 1 725 -824
1 147 323 -824

2 273 2 800 527
2 273 2 800 527
2 707 3 234 527

Revenue from NPL portfolio servicing
Interest income on purchased loan portfolios
Other operating revenues
Operating revenue
Distribution and administrative expenses 
Total operating expenses
Impairment gain/loss from POCI portfolios
Operating profit

Other Finance Income/Costs net
Net financial result

Profit for the year before tax
Profit for the year after tax from continuing operation 
TOTAL Profit/Loss for the period
Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

Profit for the year after tax attributable to:
Parent company shareholders 1 786 2 313 527

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax attributable to:
Parent company shareholders 2 208 2 735 527

Affected positions of the consolidated statement of profit and loss and other 
comprehensive income
 In thousands of Euro
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31.12.2022 31.12.2022 
restated difference

ASSETS
Purchased loan portfolios 68 275 67 824 -451
Loans and other receivables 1 376 1 390 14
Total non-current assets 83 002 82 565 -437
Loan receivables 399 284 -115
Cash and short-term deposits 18 818 18 860 41
Total current assets 34 739 34 666 -74
Total assets 117 741 117 230 -511
EQUITY
Other capital reserves 5 869 5 868 -1
Retained earnings 7 791 8 085 294
Total equity attributable to parent company shareholders 13 691 13 984 293
Total equity 15 087 15 380 293
LIABILITIES
Issued Bonds 35 654 35 110 -544
Total non-current liabilities 78 488 77 944 -544
Short-term bank and other loans 9 379 9 419 40
Trade and other payables 8 746 8 446 -300
Total current liabilities 24 167 23 907 -260
Total equity & liabilities 117 741 117 230 -511

Affected positions of the Consolidated statement of financial position
 In thousands of Euro

31.12.2022 31.12.2022 
restated difference

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before taxation from: 2 653 3 180 527

Continuing operations 2 653 3 180 527
Adjustments for non-cash items:

Impairment (gains)/losses, net of reversals, on financial assets 0 804 804
Other adjustments -1 219 -2 644 -1425

4 052 3 958 -94
Changes in working capital
   Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables -7 358 -7 371 -13
   Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 2 279 1 978 -301
   Other adjustments -282 168 450
Cash generated from operations -1309 -1 267 42
Net cash from operating activities -2 572 -2 530 42

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 2 026 2 068 42
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 18 818 18 860 42

Affected positions of the consolidated statement of cash flows
 In thousands of Euro

The statement of changes in equity for the year 2022 has been updated accordingly.
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3.5	 Goodwill

Goodwill is initially recognized and measured as set out above.

Goodwill is not amortized but is reviewed for impairment 
at least annually. For the purpose of impairment testing, 
goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generat-
ing units (or groups of cash-generating units) expected to 
benefit from the synergies of the combination. Cash-gen-
erating units to which goodwill has been allocated are 
tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when 
there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less 
than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss 
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any 
goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other as-
sets of the unit pro-rata on basis of the carrying amount of 
each asset in the unit. An impairment loss recognized for 
goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

On disposal of a  cash generating unit, the attributable 
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the 
profit or loss on disposal.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition 
of a subsidiary is described below in note 3.15

3.6	 Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has signifi-
cant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest 
in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to partici-
pate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the in-
vestee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are in-
corporated in these financial statements using the equi-
ty method of accounting, except when the investment is 
classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for 
in accordance with IFRS 5.

Under the equity method, an investment in an associate is 
recognized initially in the consolidated statement of finan-
cial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognize 
the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other compre-
hensive income of the associate. When the Group’s share 
of losses of an associate exceeds the Group’s  interest 
in that associate (which includes any long-term interests 
that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment 

in the associate), the Group discontinues recognizing its 
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognized 
only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or con-
structive obligations or made payments on behalf of the 
associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the 
equity method from the date on which the investee be-
comes an associate.  On acquisition of the investment 
in an associate any excess of the cost of the investment 
over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifi-
able assets and liabilities of the investee is recognized as 
goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of 
the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net 
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the 
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognized 
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the in-
vestment is acquired.

The requirements of IAS 36 are applied to determine 
whether it is necessary to recognize any impairment loss 
with respect to the Group’s  investment in an associate. 
When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the in-
vestment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in 
accordance with IAS 36 as a single asset by comparing 
its recoverable amount (value in use) with its carrying 
amount. Any impairment loss recognized is not allocated 
to any asset, including goodwill that forms part of the car-
rying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that im-
pairment loss is recognized in accordance with IAS 36 to 
the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment 
subsequently increases.

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method 
from the date when the investment ceases to be an as-
sociate. When the Group retains an interest in the former 
associate and the retained interest is a financial asset, the 
Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that 
date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on ini-
tial recognition in accordance with IFRS 9. The difference 
between the carrying amount of the associate at the date 
the equity method was discontinued, and the fair value of 
any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of 
a part interest in the associate is included in the determina-
tion of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate or joint 
venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts 
previously recognized in other comprehensive income in 
relation to that associate on the same basis as would be 
required if that associate had directly disposed of the re-
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lated assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previ-
ously recognized in other comprehensive income by that 
associate or joint venture would be reclassified to profit or 
loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the 
Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or 
loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when the associate 
or joint venture is disposed of.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an as-
sociate, but the Group continues to use the equity meth-
od, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion 
of the gain or loss that had previously been recognized in 
other comprehensive income relating to that reduction in 
ownership interest if that gain or loss would be reclassi-
fied to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets 
or liabilities.

When a  group entity transacts with an associate of the 
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions 
with the associate or joint venture are recognized in the 
Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the ex-
tent of interests in the associate or joint venture that are 
not related to the Group.

3.7	 Revenue recognition

APS group provides mainly following services to our cus-
tomers, which are typically negotiated as one package 
with the same economic objectives and are entered into 
near the same time and therefore the services are treated 
as a single contract, each service has capability of being 
distinct as they meet criteria of IFRS 15.22

3.7.1 Identification of revenue streams

Services related to Receivable’s collection (Asset man-
agement fees) – this service is provided by separate 
collection entities (Recovery business line) and the 
price is set on market level. The market refers to the 
market with NPL portfolios offered usually by banks, 
where the price is set between external investors and 
NPL servicers on the other side. Investors buy the 
portfolio of NPL and make decision who will provide 
the servicing for them to get the collections. Some of 
the investors have already set up their own servicing 
platform so the Group is competing with other ser-
vicers and with investor's "internal option" as well.

The service includes recovery of multiple underlying 
assets (collaterals, debts, etc.), while activities related 
to recoveries of each single asset element are highly 
interrelated. Therefore, the asset management (recov-
ery) activities related to one fund (Investor’s  asset)3 
constitute one performance that is performed over 
whole lifecycle of the fund. This service is distinct from 
other performance obligations meeting the conditions 
in IFRS 15.27. The transaction price for this separate 
performance obligation is challenged and agreed with 
the investor and is being compared to alternative col-
lectors’ prices by the Investor. The price is separately 
observable in the contract and corresponds with the 
stand-alone selling price of this performance obliga-
tion. Therefore, allocation of the total contract transac-
tion price based on relative stand-alone selling price 
principle (see IFRS 15.74) will not imply any revenue 
adjustment for the respective service provided. 

The service may include one-off fee charged for the 
services provided at the beginning of the project for 
the portfolio onboarding (taking over the database 
from the bank and uploading the data into the system, 
legal formalities for taking over the cases etc.).  

Services related to Investment management (Un-
derwriting fees) – this service is provided by Invest-
ment division in APS Investments s.r.o. entity to the 
Investors involved in specific deal. It includes main-
ly negotiations with the seller, assessing the assets, 
preparation of valuation model and dealing with rele-
vant authorities, the outcome being signed deal with 
the seller approved by relevant authorities so that the 
ownership is transferred to specific customer/fund. 
These services are provided by Investment division 
and are distinct as per IFRS 15.27 because:

•	 legal title over the asset is handed over to the 
customer who controls and is able to direct its fur-
ther use and

•	 customer may benefit from the asset without 
rendering of ongoing Asset and Facility manage-
ment services from APS (e.g. in case of hypothet-
ical withdrawal from APS services, customer may 
manage the asset either using other asset man-
ager or using its own resources).

3An Investor is a customer who receives services from APS. This term is used for the purpose of revenue recognition in this chapter 
and does not refer neither to parent entity nor to any other shareholders of APS.
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The price for it covers the costs of Investment division 
and is challenged and agreed with the Investor as 
market price. As such is equal to stand-alone selling 
price and application of relative stand-alone selling 
price principle (see IFRS 15.74) for the respective ser-
vices provided will not imply any revenue adjustment.

Services related to Fund management (Fund Manage-
ment fees) – this service is provided by Fund Manage-
ment division in APS Investments s.r.o. entity to the In-
vestors involved. It includes regular reporting on fund 
performance, ensuring statutory obligations, commu-
nication with relevant authorities, cash management. 
These services are provided by Fund Management di-
vision and are distinct as per IFRS 15.27. The price for it 
covers for the costs of Fund Management division and 
is challenged and agreed with the Investor as market 
price. As such it corresponds to the stand-alone sell-
ing price and allocation of total contract transaction 
price based on relative stand-alone selling price prin-
ciple (refer to IFRS 15.74) for the respective services 
provided will not imply any adjustment.

3.7.2 Assessment of revenue streams

Asset management fees (AMFs) –  are always directly 
linked (calculated from) cash collections during the li-
fecycle period of the fund. There is typically high num-
ber of collections over the lifecycle of the fund. 

•	 Recognition method: The respective revenue 
shall be recognized over time as customers simul-
taneously receives and consumes benefits (when 
each separate collection from debtors is credited 
to customer’s  account) from asset management 
activities over the fund lifecycle and criteria of 
IFRS 15.35a are met. The most suitable method 
of measurement progress towards complete sat-
isfaction is an output method based on measure-
ment of successful collections from debtor, i.e. 
as the cash is collected on collection accounts. 
Even in case of collateralized receivables when 
the collections are based on selling large assets 
which takes long list of time and cost consuming 
actions (removing legal obstacles, bankruptcy 
procedure, liquidation, selling the asset etc.) that 
may spread across several months or years, the 
control of assets (cash collections) transfers only 
when the collections are received (and therefore 
cost-based input method of measuring progress 

towards complete satisfaction does not seem to 
be suitable).

•	 Presentation implication: As the above selected 
revenue recognition method corresponds with 
payment from customer (APS remuneration is 
typically calculated as percentage of recovered 
asset, the percentage ratio is fixed), the invoiced 
AMF corresponds to recognized revenue (i.e. APS 
performance). Nor contract asset, neither contract 
liability shall be therefore recognized because of 
IFRS 15.105 requirement Variable Considerations: 
The total asset management fee is estimated dur-
ing the underwriting period, when asset valuation 
model based on thorough due diligence screen-
ing process is executed. The total AMFs repre-
sent an amount to which APS estimates to be 
entitled in exchange for providing asset manage-
ment services. The asset management fees are 
budgeted to recover related costs including mar-
gin. For selected contracts, APS is eligible for ex-
tra bonuses when meeting certain trigger points 
(see Commission fees based on SLA bellow) and/
or improvement of AMFs percentage (if fund per-
formance is higher that pre-agreed threshold). 
However, such triggers and above-expectation 
fund performance may not be reliably estimated 
at the contract inception so that it would be highly 
probable that significant reversal in the amount of 
cumulative revenue would not occur. These rev-
enue items shall be therefore recognized when 
respective triggers or improvement of fund per-
formance occurs.

•	 Onboarding fees (OFs) are not classified as a sep-
arate activity, as they are directly linked to the 
portfolio servicing and would not be cashed for 
the portfolios which are not subsequently ser-
viced. Therefore, OFs are recognized over time 
and measured based on output method based on 
measurement of recognized AMF as a % of total 
AMF in the acquisition model.  

•	 Underwriting fees (UFs) – fees are calculated as 
a  percentage of transaction purchase price and 
are usually capped. The transactions go through 
several stages before the deal is finalized (Screen-
ing, Indicative bid, Binding bid, Signing, Closing). 
Before reaching closing stage the transactions 
can be easily scratched and no Underwriting fees 
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are paid in such case. The control over underly-
ing portfolio for the transaction is transferred at 
Closing date – i.e. after the deal is signed and all 
transaction preceding conditions are met. Chief 
Investment Officer can assess that the point of 
time for recognizing the revenue is earlier in time 
depending on the risk profile of the transaction 
and historical data of relevant deals (e.g. after an-
timonopoly approval). To sum up UFs are recog-
nized at a point in time as the criteria set in IFRS 
15.35 are not met:

•	 Customers (investors) do not (simultaneously) 
consume any benefit from ongoing phases of the 
deal (i.e. criteria in IFRS15.35 are not met)

•	 Customers (investors) do not control any assets 
(fund shares, IPRs, etc.) related to transaction 
preparation and are not able to prevent APS from 
controlling any asset related to transaction prepa-
ration (i.e. criteria in IFRS 15.35b are not met)

•	 The assets created within the transaction prepa-
ration has alternative use for APS (i.e. may be eas-
ily redirected to other possible investor) and APS 
has no right to any payment for performance com-
pleted to date until the Closing phase (i.e. criteria 
in IFRS 15.35c are not met) 

Fund Management fees (FMFs) – fees are usually set 
as a monthly lump sum for Fund Management servic-
es provided continuously during the portfolio lifetime. 
The services are invoiced as provided and the FMFs 
are recognized over time as the criteria of IFRS 15.35a 
are met (customer receives the benefits simultane-
ously over the lifecycle of the fund), while progress 
towards complete satisfaction of this performance ob-
ligation is based on elapsed time as the elapsed time 
best depicts the entity’s obligation to stand ready to 
perform any administrative task when needed.

Commission fees based on SLA - fees calculated 
based on % set in contract depending on meeting 
specific trigger points (cash collected, specific con-
tract signed etc.). This performance is not capable of 
being distinct as it is highly integrated with AMFs. Fur-
ther, revenues from Commissions fees based on SLA 
may not be reliably estimated at the contract inception 
(see discussion above). In this case the performance 
shall be accounted as part of AMF (not distinct per-

formance obligation) and revenue is recognized when 
such specific trigger point occurs (not eligible to be 
included in transaction price consideration at the con-
tract inception).

3.8	 Leases

3.8.1  The Group as a lessee

The Group assesses whether a  contract is or con-
tains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group 
recognizes a right-of-use asset and a corresponding 
lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements 
in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases 
(defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or 
less) and leases of low value assets (such as tablets 
and personal computers, small items of office furniture 
and telephones). For these leases, the Group recog-
nizes the lease payments as an operating expense on 
a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present 
value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
commencement date, discounted by using the rate 
implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily deter-
mined, the lessee uses its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the 
lease liability comprise:

•	 Fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed 
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

•	 Variable lease payments that depend on an index 
or rate, initially measured using the index or rate 
at the commencement date;

•	 The amount expected to be payable by the les-
see under residual value guarantees;

•	 The exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee 
is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

•	 Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if 
the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to 
terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in 
the consolidated statement of financial position.



The lease liability is subsequently measured by in-
creasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the 
lease liability (using the effective interest method) and 
by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease 
payments made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes 
a  corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-
use asset) whenever:

•	 The lease term has changed or there is a signif-
icant event or change in circumstances result-
ing in a change in the assessment of exercise of 
a purchase option, in which case the lease liability 
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease 
payments using a revised discount rate.

•	 The lease payments change due to changes in an 
index or rate or a  change in expected payment 
under a guaranteed residual value, in which cas-
es the lease liability is remeasured by discounting 
the revised lease payments using an unchanged 
discount rate (unless the lease payments change 
is due to a  change in a  floating interest rate, in 
which case a revised discount rate is used). 

•	 A lease contract is modified and the lease modi-
fication is not accounted for as a separate lease, 
in which case the lease liability is remeasured 
based on the lease term of the modified lease 
by discounting the revised lease payments using 
a revised discount rate at the effective date of the 
modification.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measure-
ment of the corresponding lease liability, lease pay-
ments made at or before the commencement day, less 
any lease incentives received and any initial direct 
costs. They are subsequently measured at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter 
period of lease term and useful life of the underlying 
asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement 
date of the lease.

The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate 
line in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group applies IAS 36 to determine whether 
a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any 
identified impairment loss as described in the ‘Im-
pairment of tangible and intangible assets excluding 
goodwill’ policy.

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate 
are not included in the measurement of the lease liabili-
ty and the right-of-use asset. The related payments are 
recognized as an expense in the period in which the 
event or condition that triggers those payments occurs 
and are included in ‘Other expenses’ in profit or loss.

The group uses the exception on low-value assets. 
The threshold was set to 5 thousands of Euro. The as-
sets which initial net present value does not exceed 
this threshold are not recognised on the consolidat-
ed statement of financial position remain classified as 
services in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income.

3.8.2  The Group as lessor

The Group does not present any material lease where 
it would be in the position of lessor.

3.9   Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of the individu-
al companies, transactions in currencies other than the 
component’s  functional currency (foreign currencies) are 
recognized at the rates of exchange prevailing on the 
dates of the transactions. At each reporting date, mone-
tary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign 
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that 
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are de-
nominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates 
prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. 
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of histori-
cal cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial state-
ments, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign op-
erations are translated at exchange rates prevailing on the 
reporting date. Income and expense items are translated at 
the average exchange rates for the period. Exchange differ-
ences arising, if any, are recognized in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in a separate component of equity 
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).
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On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the 
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal 
involving loss of control over a  subsidiary that includes 
a foreign operation or a partial disposal of an interest in 
a joint arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign 
operation of which the retained interest becomes a finan-
cial asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in 
a separate component of equity in respect of that opera-
tion attributable to the owners of the company are reclas-
sified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a  partial disposal of a  subsidi-
ary that includes a foreign operation that does not result 
in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the pro-
portionate share of accumulated exchange differences is 
re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not rec-
ognized in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. 
partial disposals of associates or joint arrangements that 
do not result in the Group losing significant influence or 
joint control), the proportionate share of the accumulated 
exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisi-
tion of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities 
of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate. Ex-
change differences arising are recognized in other com-
prehensive income.

3.10  Short-term employee benefits

A liability is recognized for benefits accruing to employees 
in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick 
leave in the period the related service is rendered at the 
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid 
in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognized in respect of short-term employee 
benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of the 
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related 
service.

3.11  Taxation

The income tax expense represents the sum of the tax 
currently payable and deferred tax.

3.11.1  Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit 

for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as 
reported in profit or loss because it excludes items 
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible 
in other years and it further excludes items that are 
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s  liability for 
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 
reporting period.

A provision is recognized for those matters for which 
the tax determination is uncertain, but it is considered 
probable that there will be a  future outflow of funds 
to a tax authority. The provisions are measured at the 
best estimate of the amount expected to become 
payable. The assessment is based on the judgement 
of tax professionals within the Company supported by 
previous experience in respect of such activities and 
in certain cases based on specialist independent tax 
advice.

3.11.2  Deferred tax

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or 
recoverable on differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial state-
ments and the corresponding tax bases used in the 
computation of taxable profit and is accounted for 
using the liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are 
generally recognized for all taxable temporary differ-
ences and deferred tax assets are recognized to the 
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be 
available against which deductible temporary differ-
ences can be utilized. Such assets and liabilities are 
not recognized if the temporary difference arises from 
the initial recognition of goodwill or from the initial 
recognition (other than in a business combination) of 
other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects 
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.  In 
addition, a deferred tax liability is not recognized if the 
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition 
of goodwill [IAS 12.15(a)].

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable tem-
porary differences arising on investments in subsid-
iaries and associates, and interests in joint ventures, 
except where the Group is able to control the reversal 
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the 
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseea-
ble future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible 
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temporary differences associated with such invest-
ments and interests are only recognized to the extent 
that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable 
profits against which to utilize the benefits of the tem-
porary differences and they are expected to reverse 
in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is re-
viewed at each reporting date and reduced to the ex-
tent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable 
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset 
to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are 
expected to apply in the period when the liability is 
settled or the asset is realized based on tax laws and 
rates that have been enacted or substantively enact-
ed at the reporting date.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets 
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from 
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of 
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying 
amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when 
there is a  legally enforceable right to set off current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they 
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation au-
thority and the Group intends to settle its current tax 
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

3.11.3  Current tax and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognized in profit or 
loss, except when they relate to items that are rec-
ognized in other comprehensive income or directly 
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax 
are also recognized in other comprehensive income 
or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax 
or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for 
a business combination, the tax effect is included in 
the accounting for the business combination.

3.12  Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings held for administrative purposes are 
stated in the statement of financial position at their his-
torical cost less any accumulated depreciation and accu-

mulated impairment losses. Depreciation is recognized in 
profit or loss.

Freehold land is not depreciated.

Fixtures and equipment are stated at cost less accumulat-
ed depreciation and accumulated impairment loss.

Depreciation is recognized so as to write off the cost or 
valuation of assets (other than freehold land and prop-
erties under construction) less their residual values over 
their useful lives, using the straight-line method, on the 
following bases:

Depreciation – tangible assets Number of years
Building and structures 50
Office equipment 3
Transport facilities 5
Furniture 5

The estimated useful lives, residual values and deprecia-
tion method are reviewed at the end of each reporting pe-
riod, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted 
for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized 
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. 
The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an 
asset is determined as the difference between the sales 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is rec-
ognized in profit or loss.

3.13  Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired 
separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortiza-
tion and accumulated impairment losses. Amortization is 
recognized on a  straight-line basis over their estimated 
useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortization 
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting peri-
od, with the effect of any changes in estimate being ac-
counted for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets with 
indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are car-
ried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Software 
is amortized over 10 years with a limited useful life using 
a straight-line method.
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3.14 Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and 
recognized separately from goodwill are recognized in-
itially at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is 
regarded as their cost).

After initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in 
a business combination are reported at cost less accumu-
lated amortization and accumulated impairment losses, 
on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired 
separately.

3.15 Impairment of tangible and intangible assets ex-
cluding goodwill

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying 
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets have 
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, 
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to deter-
mine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the 
asset does not generate cash flows that are independent 
from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset be-
longs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of alloca-
tion can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated 
to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are 
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units 
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can 
be identified.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are tested 
for impairment at least annually and whenever there is an 
indication that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs 
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their pres-
ent value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future 
cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generat-
ing unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, 
the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) 
is reduced to its recoverable amount. The recoverable 
amount is set as value in use because there are no readily 

available market data to set the fair value. An impairment 
loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss, unless the 
relevant asset is carried at a  revalued amount, in which 
case the impairment loss is treated as a  revaluation de-
crease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the car-
rying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is in-
creased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, 
but so that the increased carrying amount does not ex-
ceed the carrying amount that would have been deter-
mined had no impairment loss been recognized for the 
asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A  reversal 
of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit 
or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued 
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss 
is treated as a revaluation increase.

3.16 Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized 
in the Group’s  statement of financial position when the 
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially meas-
ured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attrib-
utable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and 
financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to 
or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or 
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. 
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of 
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss are recognized immediately in profit or loss.

3.16.1  Financial Assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets 
are recognized and derecognized on a trade date ba-
sis. Regular way purchases for the group are purchas-
es of NPL portfolios with the risks transferred to the 
Investor. These purchases or sales require delivery of 
assets within the time frame established by regulation 
or convention in the marketplace.

All recognized financial assets are measured subse-
quently in their entirety at either amortized cost or fair val-
ue, depending on the classification of the financial assets. 
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Classification of financial assets 

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions 
are measured subsequently at amortized cost:

•	 the financial asset is held within a business model 
whose objective is to hold financial assets in or-
der to collect contractual cash flows; and

•	 the contractual terms of the financial asset give 
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are sole-
ly payments of principal and interest on the princi-
pal amount outstanding.

No debt instruments meet the conditions to be subse-
quently measured at fair value through other compre-
hensive income (FVTOCI).

All other financial assets are measured subsequently 
at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). The Group 
does not elect any of its assets to be subsequently 
measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income (FVTOCI).

Despite the foregoing, the Group may make the fol-
lowing irrevocable election / designation at initial rec-
ognition of a financial asset:

•	 the Group may irrevocably elect to present sub-
sequent changes in fair value of an equity invest-
ment in other comprehensive income if certain 
criteria are met (see (iii) below); and

•	 the Group may irrevocably designate a  debt in-
vestment that meets the amortized cost or FVTO-
CI criteria as measured at FVTPL if doing so 
eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting 
mismatch (see (iv) below). 

(i)	 Amortized cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a  method of calcu-
lating the amortized cost of a debt instrument and of 
allocating interest income over the relevant period. 

For financial assets other than purchased or originat-
ed credit-impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that are 
credit-impaired on initial recognition), the effective in-
terest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 

future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid 
or received that form an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or 
discounts) excluding expected credit losses, through 
the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where 
appropriate, a  shorter period, to the gross carrying 
amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition. 
For purchased or originated credit-impaired finan-
cial assets, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is 
calculated by discounting the estimated future cash 
flows, including expected credit losses, to the amor-
tized cost of the debt instrument on initial recognition.

The amortized cost of a financial asset is the amount at 
which the financial asset is measured at initial recog-
nition minus the principal repayments, plus the cumu-
lative amortization using the effective interest method 
of any difference between that initial amount and the 
maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. The 
gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the amor-
tized cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any 
loss allowance.

Interest income is recognized using the effective in-
terest method for debt instruments measured subse-
quently at amortized cost. For financial assets other 
than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial 
assets, interest income is calculated by applying the 
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of 
a financial asset, except for financial assets that have 
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). 
For financial assets that have subsequently become 
credit-impaired, interest income is recognized by ap-
plying the effective interest rate to the amortized cost 
of the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting pe-
riods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial 
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no 
longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognized 
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross car-
rying amount of the financial asset.

For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial 
assets, the Group recognizes interest income by ap-
plying the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to the 
amortized cost of the financial asset from initial rec-
ognition.

Interest income is recognized in profit or loss and is included 
in the "finance income - interest income" line item (note 6.3).
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(ii)	 Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are de-
nominated in a foreign currency is determined in that 
foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at the 
end of each reporting period. 

(iii)	 Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognizes a loss allowance for expected 
credit losses on investments in debt instruments that 
are measured at amortized cost and trade and other 
receivables. The amount of expected credit losses is 
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in 
credit risk since initial recognition of the respective fi-
nancial instrument.

For Trade receivables and loans the Group applies 
simplified approach classifying all receivables in stage 
2 and always recognizing lifetime ECL for trade receiv-

ables. The expected credit losses on these financial 
assets are estimated using a provision matrix based 
on the Group’s historical credit loss experience.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recog-
nizes lifetime ECL when there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. How-
ever, if the credit risk on the financial instrument has 
not increased significantly since initial recognition, the 
Group measures the loss allowance for that financial 
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. 

Bank accounts were classified according to 
Moody’s  rating and for each bank was set up the 
probability of default. Loss given default was 45% ac-
cording to EU Capital Requirements Regulation, Arti-
cle 161, point (a).

The following table summarizes the impairment ap-
proach for financial assets measured at amortised cost:

Impairment Approach
IFRS 9 Classification Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Unsecured purchased portfolios 
(debt financial assets valued at 
amortized costs)

No staging as these assets are treated as POCI with 
a lifetime impairment calculation

Outstanding balances on bank 
accounts

Expert assesment of the significant 
increase in credit risk at each report 

ing date taking into consideration 
DPD, drop in rating, and publicly 
available negative information

Trade receivables and loans Simplified approach applied and classified in Stage 2 with a lifetime ECL calcula-
tion, unless it is credit impaired and classified in Stage 3

(iv)	 Significant increase in credit risk

The Group so far does not evidence significant in-
creases in credit risk. The group categorize the finan-
cial assets at initial recognition into the following three 
categories and does not evidence any movement be-
tween the categories:

Low risk financial assets – balances on bank accounts 
(stage 1)

Trade receivables – simplified approach to impairment 
calculation, all receivables categorized to stage 2

Unsecured portfolios - Purchased or Originated Cred-

it-Impaired (POCI) Financial Assets categorized in 
stage 3 

(v)	 Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an 
event of default for internal credit risk management 
purposes:

•	 when there is a breach of financial covenants by 
the debtor; or

•	 information developed internally or obtained from 
external sources indicates that the debtor is un-
likely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in 
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full (without taking into account any collateral held 
by the Group).

(vi)	 Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more 
events that have a  detrimental impact on the esti-
mated future cash flows of that financial asset have 
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-im-
paired includes observable data about the following 
events:

a)	 significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the 
borrower;

b)	 a breach of contract, such as a default or past due 
event (see (ii) above);

c)	 the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or 
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s fi-
nancial difficulty, having granted to the borrower 
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not other-
wise consider;

d)	 it is becoming probable that the borrower will en-
ter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization; or

e)	 the disappearance of an active market for that fi-
nancial asset because of financial difficulties.

(vii)	Purchased or Originated Credit-Impaired  
Financial Assets (POCI)

Purchased or Originated Credit-Impaired Financial As-
sets (POCI) are those that meet both following criteria:

1.	 Categorized at initial recognition as Amortized 
costs (neither FVPL nor FVOCI) Impaired (i.e. in 
default) at initial recognition.

2.	 Once the instrument is classified as POCI it always 
stays classified as POCI. The Group classifies un-
secured portfolios in this category.

(viii) Initial Recognition POCI

To recognize POCI at initial recognition the following 
variables on the level of the financial instrument are 
determined:

1.	 Contractual Cash Flows: The contractual CF at 
initial recognition is represented by the whole 
outstanding balance of the instrument at initial 
recognition and it should be due immediately. We 
manage this information is in the CAPONE recov-
ery system. 

2.	 Expected Cash Flows: Expected CF consists of 
real expected CF in the future periods including 
the effect of expected credit losses. Further de-
tails related to the expected cash flows are ad-
dressed in the Impairment methodology.

3.	 Fair Value at initial recognition (FV): The sum of 
the FV allocated to the financial instruments with-
in the same portfolio is the acquisition price paid 
by us. It is assumed that the acquisition price re-
flects the actual price of the instruments consider-
ing the risk-free rate, their market risk, credit risk, 
liquidity and other risks of the purchased portfo-
lio/instruments.

4.	 Transaction costs (TC): The transaction costs are 
allocated to individual instruments on a pro-rata 
basis to their respective individual fair values.

(ix)	 Other Aspects of the initial recognition

For the recognition of POCI instrument, following is 
valid:

1.	 All the financial instruments identified as POCI 
have an allocated fair value above zero.

2.	 All the outstanding payments of the financial instru-
ments are due immediately at the acquisition date

3.	 The sum of the FV allocated to the financial instru-
ments within the same portfolio is the acquisition 
price paid by us for the given portfolio.

(x)	 Write-off policy

Non-performing loans (NPL) portfolios, which have 
monthly gross-collections under 2 thousand EUR on 
average for past 12months are written off unless over-
ruled by the decision of group CFO (due to expected 
significant future gross-collections).
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The reason for write-off is that the internal costs for 
revaluation are disproportionately higher than the in-
formation the Group gets for these costs.

Any post-write-off cash flows from afore-mentioned 
portfolios are recognized as Revenue in line with IFRS 
15.35a in P&L against cash/bank account on Balance 
sheet.

(xi)	 Measurement and recognition of expected 
credit losses

The measurement of expected credit losses is a func-
tion of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. 
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the 
exposure at default. The assessment of the probabil-
ity of default and loss given default is based on his-
torical data adjusted by forward-looking information 
as described above. As for the exposure at default, 
for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ 
gross carrying amount at the reporting date.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimat-
ed as the difference between all contractual cash flows 
that are due to the Group in accordance with the con-
tract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to 
receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate. 

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a fi-
nancial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL 
in the previous reporting period, but determines at the 
current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime 
ECL are no longer met, the Group measures the loss 
allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at the 
current reporting date, except for assets for which 
simplified approach was used.

The Group recognizes an impairment gain or loss in 
profit or loss for all financial instruments with a corre-
sponding adjustment to their carrying amount through 
a loss allowance account.

(xii)	Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognizes a financial asset only when 
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the as-
set expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of 
the asset to another entity. If the Group neither trans-

fers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership and continues to control the transferred 
asset, the Group recognizes its retained interest in the 
asset and an associated liability for amounts it may 
have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred finan-
cial asset, the Group continues to recognize the finan-
cial asset and also recognizes a collateralized borrow-
ing for the proceeds received. 

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at am-
ortized cost, the difference between the asset’s carry-
ing amount and the sum of the consideration received 
and receivable is recognized in profit or loss. In ad-
dition, on derecognition of an investment in a  debt 
instrument classified as at FVTOCI, the cumulative 
gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment 
revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss. In 
contrast, on derecognition of an investment in equity 
instrument which the Group has elected on initial rec-
ognition to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or 
loss previously accumulated in the investment revalu-
ation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is 
transferred to retained earnings. 

3.16.2.  Financial liabilities and equity

(i) Classification as debt or equity 

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either 
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the 
substance of the contractual arrangements and the defi-
nitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

(ii) Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences 
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after de-
ducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued 
by the Group are recognized at the proceeds re-
ceived, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments 
is recognized and deducted directly in equity. No gain 
or loss is recognized in profit or loss on the purchase, 
sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own eq-
uity instruments.



Financial Statements

8080

(iii) Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities with exception of Interest rate 
swap and non-deliverable forward are measured sub-
sequently at amortized cost using the effective inter-
est method. 

The effective interest method is a  method of calcu-
lating the amortized cost of a financial liability and of 
allocating interest expense over the relevant period. 
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly dis-

counts estimated future cash payments (including all 
fees and points paid or received that form an integral 
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs 
and other premiums or discounts) through the expect-
ed life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) 
a shorter period, to the amortized cost of a financial 
liability.

Interest rate swap and non-deliverable forward are 
measured in FVPL with the valuation technique and 
key input data as follows: 

Financial derivative Valuation techniques and key input data Significant non-ob-
servable inputs

Relationship and 
sensitivity between 

non-observable 
inputs a fair value

1) currency  
forwards and  
interest rate swaps

Discounted cash flows:

Future cash flows are determined based on forward 
exchange rates (from observable forward exchange 
rates at the end of the reporting period) and con-
tractual forward rates discounted at a rate that 
reflects the credit risk of various counterparties.

N/A N/A

(iv)	 Foreign exchange gains and losses

For financial liabilities that are denominated in a for-
eign currency and are measured at amortized cost at 
the end of each reporting period, the foreign exchange 
gains and losses are determined based on the amor-
tized cost of the instruments. These foreign exchange 
gains and losses are recognized in Finance costs or 
Finance Income line item in profit or loss (note 6.3).

3.17  Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present 
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, 
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that 
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate 
of the consideration required to settle the present obliga-
tion at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and 
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provi-
sion is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle 
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present 
value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time value 
of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to set-
tle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third 
party, a receivable is recognized as an asset if it is virtu-
ally certain that reimbursement will be received and the 
amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

4. Critical accounting judgements and key 
sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which 
are described in note 3, the directors are required to make 
judgements (other than those involving estimations) that 
have a significant impact on the amounts recognized and 
to make estimates and assumptions about the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily ap-
parent from other sources. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and other 
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed 
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognized in the period in which the estimate is re-
vised if the revision affects only that period, or in the peri-
od of the revision and future periods if the revision affects 
both current and future periods.
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4.1  Critical judgements in applying the Group’s account-
ing policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those 
involving estimations (which are presented separately be-
low), that the directors have made in the process of apply-
ing the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognized in financial 
statements.

4.1.1	 Business model assessment 

Classification and measurement of financial assets 
depends on the results of the SPPI and the business 
model test (please see financial assets sections of 
note 3.16). The Group determines the business model 
at a level that reflects how groups of financial assets 
are managed together to achieve a particular busi-
ness objective. This assessment includes judgement 
reflecting all relevant evidence including how the per-
formance of the assets is evaluated and their perfor-
mance measured, the risks that affect the performance 
of the assets and how these are managed and how 
the managers of the assets are compensated. The 
Group monitors financial assets measured at amor-
tized cost or fair value through other comprehensive 
income that are derecognized prior to their maturity to 
understand the reason for their disposal and wheth-
er the reasons are consistent with the objective of the 
business for which the asset was held. Monitoring is 
part of the Group’s continuous assessment of whether 
the business model for which the remaining financial 
assets are held continues to be appropriate and if it is 
not appropriate whether there has been a change in 
business model and so a prospective change to the 
classification of those assets. No such changes were 
required during the periods presented.

4.1.2 Derecognition of assets and liabilities related 
to portfolios

The Group analysed contractual conditions with inves-
tors to assess if risks and rewards related to the portfo-
lio assets and liabilities are substantially transferred to 
investors. The assessment had material impact to num-
bers as presented in Consolidated statement of financial 
position and Consolidated statement of profit of loss.

4.2  Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key 
sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting period 
that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjust-
ment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next financial year, are discussed below.

4.2.1 Impairment testing of goodwill

Following the assessment of the recoverable amount 
of acquisition goodwill the directors consider the re-
coverable amounts of goodwill allocated to relevant 
cash generating unit (CGU) very sensitive to market 
conditions and are based on revenue forecasts, staff 
costs and overheads based on current and anticipated 
market conditions. Whilst the Group is able to manage 
most of the costs however the revenue projections are 
inherently uncertain due to uncertainty in new market 
opportunities and unstable market conditions. 

4.2.2 Estimated cash flows related to valuation of 
purchased NPL portfolios

The Group presents the value of purchased NPL port-
folios based on amortized costs taking into account 
expected future cash flows from unsecured portfolios. 
The cash flow estimates are made based on payment 
patterns from past and assume unchanged economic 
environment. Changes in debtors behaviour, in eco-
nomic environment of legal environment can have 
significant impact on future cash flows and thus can 
impact the valuation.

4.2.3 Provisions for litigation and tax risks

Management’s assessment of the amount of provisions 
for litigation and tax risks is based on management 
assumptions and on currently known facts and relate 
principally to the interpretation of tax legislation and 
arrangements entered into by the Group. Due to the 
uncertainty associated with such items, there is a possi-
bility that the final outcome may differ significantly. 

4.2.4 Calculation of loss allowance 

When measuring ECL the Group uses reasonable and 
supportable forward-looking information, which is 
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based on assumptions for the future movement based 
on past experience.

Loss given default is an estimate of the loss arising 
on default. It is based on the difference between the 
contractual cash flows due and those that the lend-
er would expect to receive, taking into account cash 
flows from collateral and integral credit enhancements.

Probability of default constitutes a key input in meas-
uring ECL. Probability of default is an estimate of the 
likelihood of default over a given time horizon, the cal-
culation of which includes historical data, assumptions 
and expectations of future conditions. 

4.2.5 Other areas of accounting judgement and 
sources of estimation

•	 impairment of property plant and equipment and 
intangible assets;

•	 underwriting fee revenues in case the investment 
deal is not closed yet;

•	 the amount of deferred tax assets resulting from 
tax losses available for carry-forward and deduct-
ible temporary differences;

•	 recognition and measurement of provisions and 
contingencies: key assumptions about the likeli-
hood and magnitude of an outflow of resources.

4.2.6 Macroeconomic conditions

The Group assessed that the broader macroeconomic 
environment has not had a significant direct impact on 
its operations, as the Group has minimal exposure to 
the affected regions. The Group continues to monitor 
global economic conditions and determined that there 
has been no material increase in credit risk that would 
require adjustments to its methodology for calculating 
Loans and Receivables balances under IFRS.

5.  Risk Management

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risk factors 
such as market risks, currency fluctuation risks, credit risks, 
interest fluctuations risks, liquidity risk and operating risks 
arising from the organization’s financial instruments. The 

information below specifies the guidelines for risk man-
agement which the Group follows.

5.1 Risk management framework

The Company’s board of directors has overall responsibil-
ity for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk 
management framework. 

The Company is in process of setting up risk management 
committee, which will be responsible for developing and 
monitoring the Group’s risk management policies. The 
committee will report regularly to the board of directors 
on its activities. The Group’s risk management policies will 
be established to identify and analyse the risks faced by 
the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls and 
to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management 
policies and systems will be reviewed regularly to reflect 
changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities. 
In 2023 risk management function was covered by Board 
of Directors activities on regular basis based on reports 
delivered by financial controlling department. Risk man-
agement was focused on management of liquidity risk, 
currency risk and decreasing of influence of credit risk. 
The Group, through its training and management stand-
ards and procedures, aims to maintain a disciplined and 
constructive control environment in which all employees 
understand their roles and obligations.

5.2 Market risks

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or cash flows of a 
financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market 
prices. Market risk reflects interest rate risk, currency risk 
and other price risks. 

As a result of its business activities the Group is exposed 
to market risks, which are the result of its vulnerable posi-
tion when operating with interest, securities, currency in-
struments and revenues dependent on gross collections 
which are sensitive to changes in financial markets. 

5.3 Credit risks

As a result of its business and investment activities the 
Group is exposed to credit risks. Receivables are not clas-
sified in individual groups because various debtors are 
evaluated on an individual basis. The group endeavours 
to minimize its credit risk before it enters into any business 
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relationships, as well as when such relationships already exist.

When evaluating the client's creditworthiness, the Group prepares financial and non-financial analysis. The non-financial 
analysis takes into consideration qualitative indicators and publicly accessible information about the client as well as 
information obtained directly from the client.

Debtors are evaluated individually, while taking into consideration in particular the following factors:

• Past experience with the debtor,

• Size of the loan, and Maturity of the loan.

The Group internally monitors and analyses the borrower whose securities it holds. All applications for loans are dis-
cussed and approved by the Company’s Board of Directors. All investments into the borrower's securities are also sub-
mitted for approval to the Board of Directors.

5.4 Currency fluctuation risks

Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies including off-balance sheet items represent a currency risk to which the Group 
is exposed. The Group conducts its business transactions in the following currencies: EUR, RON, CZK, PLN, BGN, HUF, 
RSD, UAH and BAM.

The currencies as of 31 December 2023 are represented in the Group financial liabilities of 97 212 thousand of Euros and 
financial assets of 102 319 thousand of Euros.

The most significant currencies in the Group are EUR, CZK, RON and HUF.

Financial Assets thousands of Euro

EUR 87 762

CZK 6 088

RON 5 870

HUF 1 239

Other 1 360

Total 102 319

Financial Liabilities thousands of Euro

EUR 90 441

CZK 5 052

RON 2 504

HUF 132

Other 453

Total 98 582

The net position as of 31 December 2023 is impacted by the appreciation/depreciation of the main currencies as pre-
sented below:

 In thousands of Euro

Currency Net position 1 % EUR appreciation 1 % EUR Depreciation
RON 3 366 -34 34
HUF 1 107 -11 11
CZK 1 037 -10 10
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• In  the  case  of  1%  appreciation/depreciation  of  EUR  vs.  RON,  Profit  for  the  year  will  decrease/increase
by 34 thousand of Euros

• In  the  case  of  1%  appreciation/depreciation  of  EUR  vs.  HUF,  Profit  for  the  year  will  decrease/increase
by 11 thousand of Euros

• In  the  case  of  1%  appreciation/depreciation  of  EUR  vs.  CZK,  Profit  for  the  year  will  decrease/increase
by 10 thousand of Euros

The net position as of 31 December 2022 is impacted by the appreciation/depreciation of the main currencies as pre-
sented below:

 In thousands of Euro

Currency Net position 1 % EUR appreciation 1 % EUR Depreciation
RON 2 963 -30 30
HUF 1 514 -15 15
CZK 522 -5 5

• In the case of 1% appreciation of EUR vs. RON, Profit for the year will decrease by 30 thousand of Euros
• In the case of 1% depreciation of EUR vs. RON, Profit for the year will increase by 30 thousand of Euros
• In the case of 1% appreciation of EUR vs. HUF, Profit for the year will decrease by 15 thousand of Euros
• In the case of 1% depreciation of EUR vs. HUF, Profit for the year will increase by 15 thousand of Euros

For translations from local functional currency to group reporting currency, European Central Bank rates were used as 
follows:

Reporting currency Transaction currency Reporting Period 
Average ECB Rate

31.12.2023
 ECB Rate

EUR BGN 1.96 1.96
EUR HUF 381.85 382.80
EUR CZK 24.00 24.72
EUR RON 4.94 4.97

EUR PLN 4.54 4.33

EUR RSD 117.25 117.17
EUR BAM 1.96 1.96
EUR UAH 37.08 39.96

5.5 Interest fluctuation risks

The group main financing facility is a bank loan, which bears an interest rate consisting of fixed and variable part. Fixed 
interest rate of 2.70 % p.a.(from July 2022, till July 2023 the fixed interest rate was 3.00 %) is supplemented by three-
month Euribor rate. To eliminate the risk associated with possible fluctuations in the Euribor rate, half of the principal is 
hedged by an interest rate swap of 0.24%. 

Other part is the loan from EUROBANK PRIVATE BANK LUXEMBOURG S.A (hereinafter “Eurobank”)  which is financing 
facility for the secured corporate portfolio purchased in Greece. This loan bears an interest rate consisting of fixed part 
of 3.25 % which is supplemented by three-month Euribor rate. To eliminate the risk associated with possible fluctuations 
in the Euribor rate, half of the principal is hedged by an interest rate swap of 2.82%.
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 In thousands of Euro

Year end Bank loan Risk exposure % change Impact on interest 
costs

31.12.2023 33 085 16 543 1% 165
31.12.2023 33 085 16 543 -1% -165

•	 In case of increase of Euribor rate by 1%, interest costs will increase by 165 thousand of Euros
•	 In case of decrease of Euribor rate by 1%, interest costs will decrease by 165 thousand of Euros

 In thousands of Euro

Year end Bank loan Risk exposure % change Impact on interest 
costs

31.12.2022 43 174 21 587 1% 216
31.12.2022 43 174 21 587 -1% -216

•	 In case of increase of Euribor rate by 1%, interest costs will increase by 216 thousand of Euros
•	 In case of decrease of Euribor rate by 1%, interest costs will decrease by 216 thousand of Euros

Impact of Euribor rate fluctuation were calculate as follows:  

5.6  Liquidity risks

Liquidity risk exists when the due dates of assets and liabilities are different. The non-cleared positions potentially in-
crease profitability, but they may also increase the risk of loss. The Group has procedures in place to minimize such loss-
es, such as maintaining a sufficient amount of cash and other highly liquid current assets and having sufficient amount 
of credit products available.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities with agreed 
repayment periods. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on 
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. It includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the ex-
tent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curves at the reporting date.

 In thousands of Euro

as of 31.12.2023 0-90 days 90-180 
days

180-365 
days 1-5 years over 5 

years Total Book 
value

Bank loans 490 490 3 247 31 861 0 36 088 33 085
Other loans 0 3 245 0 1 044 0 4 289 4 289
Issued Bonds 175 115 160 43 086 0 43 536 43 536
Trade and other payables 15 014 0 0 0 0 15 014 15 014
Total Financial Liabilities 15 679 3 850 3 407 75 991 0 98 927 95 924

31.12.2022 (restated) 0-90 days 90-180 
days

180-365 
days 1-5 years over 5 

years Total Book 
value

Bank loans 490 490 4 480 38 935 0 44 395 43 174
Other loans 0 4 171 0 2 151 0 6 322 6 322
Issued Bonds 0 115 160 34 835 0 35 110 35 110
Trade and other payables 8 446 0 0 0 0 8 446 8 446
Total Financial Liabilities 8 936 4 776 4 640 75 921 0 94 273 93 052
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The table below shows the detail of the Group´s financial assets based on the latest date on which the Group can  
require the payment:

 In thousands of Euro

as of 31.12.2023 0-90 days 90-180 
days

180-365 
days 1-5 years over 5 

years Total Book 
value

Loan receivables 0 0 128 7 006 0 7 133 7 133
Purchased loan portfolios 0 0 0 68 432 0 68 432 68 432
Trade and other receivables 5 740 0 0 0 0 5 740 5 740
Total Financial assets 5 740 0 128 75 438 0 81 305 81 305

as of 31.12.2022 (restated) 0-90 days 90-180 
days

180-365 
days 1-5 years over 5 

years Total Book 
value

Loan receivables 0 284 0 418 0 702 702
Purchased loan portfolios 0 0 0 67 824 0 67 824 67 824
Trade and other receivables 6 428 0 0 0 0 6 428 6 428
Total Financial Assets 6 428 284 0 68 242 0 74 954 74 954

To quantify the liquidity risk, Group uses Current Ratio, the results are presented in table below. The ratio has increased 
slightly year to year, despite to decrease in cash position, all other current assets increased mainly in Trade receivables, 
and current liabilities decreased mainly due to repayment of Bonds. Group considers the results satisfying and is not 
considering any further steps to eliminate the liquidity risk.

5.7 Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as going concerns while max-
imizing the return to shareholders through the optimization of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy 
remains unchanged since 2017.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt (borrowings disclosed in note 7.6 after deducting cash and bank 
balances) and equity of the Group (comprising issued capital, reserves, retained earnings and non-controlling interests 
as disclosed in note 7.11).

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

 In thousands of Euro

Current Ratio of the Group 31.12.2023 31.12.2022 (restated) 
Current Assets 28 351 34 666
Current Liabilities 35 623 23 907
Ratio 0,8 1,5

5.8 Gearing ratio

The gearing ratio at the year-end is as follows:
 In thousands of Euro

 31.12.2023 31.12.2022 (restated) 
Net Debt 80 849 82 990
Equity 16 830 15 380
Net Debt to Equity ratio 4,8 5,4
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5.9  Operating risks

The Group defines operating risks as the possibility of losses incurred by inadequate or failed internal processes, peo-
ple and systems, or from external events, including legal and compliance risks. This risk is a function of internal control 
mechanisms, information systems, lack of employee perfection and operational processes. This risk exists in all prod-
ucts, services and processes. It occurs daily in all companies which process transactions. The Group has internal system 
of risk controls being revised on regular basis by the department of Internal Audit. The Internal Audit Department visits 
local subsidiaries within the group on regular basis, performing the standard internal audit procedures.

6 Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

6.1 Operating revenue

 In thousands of Euro

 31.12.2023 31.12.2022 (restated) 
Revenue from NPL portfolio servicing 15 467 17 629
Interest income on purchased loan portfolios 11 975 1 617
Other operating revenues 4 803 5 176
Operating revenue 32 245 24 422

Major part of operating revenue is represented by Asset management fees, charged for the recovery activities by the 
servicing entities, aggregated on row Revenue from NPL portfolio servicing and by fees for investment services, which 
is shown on other operating revenue line.

Overall increase of operating revenue by 32 % is caused by the increase of revenue related to the Frame portfolio pur-
chased in December 2022, which generated over 10 million EUR in interest income in 2023. Due to the late timing of 
the deal in 2022, the same portfolio did not produce any interest revenue in that period. The increase is partially offset 
by the lower performance in the area of portfolio servicing.

The Romanian market is primarily responsible for the decline in the NPL portfolio servicing category; revenue fell by 
more than 1.3 million euros from the previous year. Large secured portfolios from 2015 to 2018 make up the majority of 
the portfolios that APS Romania services, albeit they are currently getting smaller. Croatia has a similar trend, with a 0.5 
million euro drop from the previous year. However, the portfolio frame that was onboarded at the end of 2022 is the 
reason for the noticeable revenue increase of 0.4 million euros in Greece.

The beneficial impact that the acquired portfolios have on each entity's balance sheet should not be overlooked. This 
revenue spiked up to 0.7 million EUR and is shown on the line Interest income on purchased loan portfolios.

The Group elects to apply the admissible practical expedient in paragraph 121(b) of IFRS 15 and does not disclose the 
aggregated amount of unsatisfied transaction price, because the right to consideration from respective performance 
obligations (such as asset management and fund management) corresponds directly with the value transferred to the 
customer.

The group does not report the complete geographical split of the revenue. As there is variety of ownership split and 
would be very hard to define the geographical identity of each revenue with minimal value added for the user of the 
financial statements.
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6.2 Operating Expenses

 In thousands of Euro

 31.12.2023 31.12.2022 (restated) 
Administrative expenses 22 481 18 770
Other operating expenses 131 169
Total operating expenses 22 613 18 939

Operating expenses are represented by administrative expenses related to the running of the Group itself. Salaries and 
related expenses represent more than 50% of the operating expenses. Another part is related to the external services 
(e.g. audit fees, tax, legal and other advisory fees etc.). 

The group operating expenses increase by 19% comparing the last year, driven by items such as equalisation reserve in 
APS ETA S.A., which reached a total value of almost 2 mEUR, and write-offs of receivables. The increase has been par-
tially offset by cost optimization focused on salary expenses (headcount reduction) and various categories of services, 
where the group minimized mostly usage of advisory and legal costs only to these, which are classified as necessary. 

Detail of Administrative expenses:

 In thousands of Euro

 31.12.2023 31.12.2022 (restated) 
Salaries and related expenses 10 626 10 959

Costs of external services 11 856 7 811

Local taxes and fees 0 0
Total Distribution and administrative expenses 22 481 18 770

In the reporting period audit fees amounting to 383 thousand of Euros (prior year 373 thousand of Euros) are included 
in the external services category.

Average headcount divided into major segments in table below:

Segment Number of Employees 2023 2022
Head-office 33 39

Investment 20 21

Servicing 344 419
Real Estate 2 4
Fund vehicles 3 3
Total Employees 402 486

Decrease in number of employees is caused by personal costs optimization, focus on elimination of business with negative 
or low contribution margin among whole group and restructuring of the head-office entities which took place during 2022.
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6.3 Financial result

 In thousands of Euro

 31.12.2023 31.12.2022
(restated) 

Net exchange gains or losses -425 -445
Interest income 818 371
Interest expenses -7 361 -1 154
Interest expense on lease liability -189 -173
Other Finance Income/Costs net -1 629 1 725
Net financial result -8 785 323

Group’s Financial result comes mainly from the interest expense on bonds issued by APS ETA S.A. with expense of 3 
744 thousand of Euros in 2023 (0 thousand of Euros in 2022) and bonds and notes issued by Loan Management II, a.s. 
with expense of 516 thousand of Euros in 2023 (331 thousand of Euros in 2022).

Further, it consists of Interest expenses paid for loan from UniCreditBank loan of 459 thousand of Euros (496 thousand of 
Euros in 2022) and of interest paid for loan from EUROBANK of 2 347 thousand of Euros (75 thousand of Euros in 2022).

Interest income is related to the loans provided to related parties from APS Recovery a.s.

Most important part of Other Finance income is represented by the dividend received by Loan Management II, a.s. of 1 
453 thousand of Euros.

Net realized and unrealized Foreign Exchange losses of 425 thousand of Euros are related to the operations in RON, 
EUR, HUF and CZK as the most frequent currencies for the Group. 

6.4 Income Tax

6.4.1 Current tax

The amount of tax payable is based on the results of the current accounting period adjusted by those items which are 
not taxable or eligible and has been calculated in accordance with the tax rates valid as at the date the Financial State-
ments were compiled. Thus, current tax is based on taxable profit for the accounting period. The amount of taxable profit 
may differ from the profit before tax, which is presented in the Consolidated Income Statement as it sometimes does not 
include items of income or expense that are taxable or tax deductible in other years or items that are never taxable or 
tax deductible.

 In thousands of Euro
Current income tax 31.12.2023 31.12.2022 (restated) 
Profit or Loss before Income taxes 1 718 3 180
Income Tax using the average tax rates -628 -938

Tax losses for which no deferred tax is recognised 209 331
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes -106 -361
Income not subject to tax 225 525
Total Income tax expense -300 -443
% of Income tax expense 17.5% 13.9%
% of Average Tax using the Company´s domestic tax rate 36.6% 29.5%
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6.4.2 Deferred tax

Deferred tax has been calculated with the use of tax rates which are expected to be valid at the time when the assets have 
been implemented or when the liabilities have been settled. Deferred tax has been posted in the Statement of Compre-
hensive Income with exception of situations when it is related to the items which were accounted directly in the equity and 
the deferred tax is included in the equity.

Deferred tax of 63 thousand of Euros charged to P&L in current reporting period is related mainly to the decrease of de-
ferred tax liability which was booked due to the variance in Tax and Accounting amortisation.  

6.4.3	 Effective tax rate and tax changes

Effective tax rate increased from 13.9% to 17.5%, which is not significant change in effective income tax rate. 

No changes in Taxation legislation affecting our subsidiaries became effective as of 31 December 2023.

6.4.4 Unused tax losses

The Group does not recognise deferred tax asset for tax losses carried forward because the Group´s management consid-
ers not probable that sufficient future taxable profits in individual group companies will be available against which the tax 
losses could be utilised.

The Unused Tax for which no deferred tax is recognized is as follows:

 In thousands of Euro

Entity Total unused tax loss Expiring 
2024

Expiring 
2025

Expiring 
2026

Expiring 
2027

Expiring 
2028

Czechia 3 911 0 340 1 350 1 207 1 014

Greece 1 894 831 394 254 415 0

Poland 980 223 76 414 229 38

Luxembourg 649 0 0 0 0 0

Serbia 370 94 0 0 256 20

Slovakia 297 18 127 99 51 2

Montenegro 196 0 0 0 0 196

Romania 8 8 0 0 0 0

Italy 3 0 0 0 0 3

6.5 Dividends

No dividend payment to shareholder of APS Holding S.A. was approved for the current and prior reporting periods. Divi-
dend payments to minority shareholders are disclosed in note 7.11.
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7  Notes to Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

7.1	 Goodwill and Intangible assets

 In thousands of Euro

 Goodwill Software Other intangible assets Total
At 1 January 2023  
At costs 6 824 5 130 1 927 13 881
Accumulated amortisation 0 -2 809 -955 -3 764
Net book amount 6 824 2 321 972 10 117
At 31 December 2023
Additions 0 315 4 319
Disposals (gross value) 0 -134 -29 -163
Disposed amortisation 0 67 0 67
Exchange differences 0 60 -20 40
Amortisation charge of the period 0 -573 -188 -761
Closing net book amount 6 824 2 056 739 9 619
At 31 December 2023
At costs 6 824 5 395 1 853 14 072
Accumulated amortisation 0 -3 339 -1 114 -4 453
Net book amount 6 824 2 056 739 9 619

 In thousands of Euro

 Goodwill Software Other intangible assets Total
At 1 January 2022  
At costs 6 824 5 058 1 838 13 720
Accumulated amortisation 0 -2 248 -741 -2 989
Net book amount 6 824 2 810 1 097 10 731
At 31 December 2022  
Additions 0 46 29 75
Disposals (gross value) 0 0 0 0
Disposed amortisation 0 0 0 0
Exchange differences 0 32 33 65
Amortisation charge of the period 0 -567 -187 -754
Closing net book amount 6 824 2 321 972 10 117
At 31 December 2022  
Cost or fair value 6 824 5 130 1 927 13 881
Accumulated amortisation 0 -2 809 -955 -3 764
Net book amount 6 824 2 321 972 10 117

7.2	 Upstream Merger Goodwill

As of 31.12.2023 Group presents following Goodwill:

 In thousands of Euro

 31.12.2023 31.12.2022
Upstream Merger Goodwill 6 824 6 824
Total Group Goodwill 6 824 6 824



7.2.1	 Impairment assessment 

The Group tests whether goodwill has incurred any impairment on an annual basis irrespective of impairment indicators. 
The recoverable amount of the asset is determined based on value in use calculations which requires the use of assump-
tions. The calculations use cash flow projections based on business model approved by management of the Group cover-
ing a 5-year period. According to Management’s forecasts, the predictability of the model significantly decreases with the 
time, therefore no projections beyond 5 years are considered and no terminal values were included in the calculations. For 
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in upstream merger in 2015, is allocated to the Group as a single cash 
generating unit that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the merger. 

As of 31 December 2023, the impairment assessment for goodwill was performed based on the same methodology as the 
initial estimation of the intangible asset and goodwill used for the business combination in 2015.

Revenues from servicing are based on recovery curves according to the data relating to the non-performing loans and real 
estate assets that are currently managed. The collateral market values were updated for single markets.

The recovery strategies were applied to each debtor depending on whether the strategy would be that of Restructuring, 
Settlement, Consensual Sale, Debt to Asset or Foreclosure. For secured debtors, recoveries were estimated starting from 
the market value of the underlying collaterals capped by the value of receivable.

Estimated level of new deals per annum, which is reflecting current level of new deals in 2023, expected growth in coming 
year, current level of net multiple for investment deals, current recovery curves and estimated level of asset management 
fees for servicing the portfolios.

The main costs were calculated as follows:

1)	 Direct and indirect costs at market level were calculated by taking into consideration the total direct cost in particular 
market in 2023 and the estimation for the rest of the life of the project.

2)	 	For new deals weighted average level of contribution margin was applied, as the specific markets where the deals will 
be located cannot be predicted by management

For calculating the recoverable amount as at 31 December 2023, a pre-tax discount rate 7.59 % was used.

An effective tax rate of 14.3% was used to calculate the expected income tax expense.

The calculations use cash flow projections based on the 5-year strategic plan.

Based on the results of the above-described impairment tests, no impairment of goodwill and intangible was identified.

Financial Statements

9292



7.3 Property, plant, and equipment

 In thousands of Euro

kEUR Buildings Machinery and 
motor vehicles

Furniture, fixtures, office 
equipment Total

At 1 January 2023     
At Cost 101 424 483 1 008
Accumulated depreciation -7 -415 -313 -734
Net book amount 94 9 171 274
At 31 December 2023
Additions 86 0 45 131
Disposals (gross value) -6 0 1 -5
Disposed depreciation 0 0 0 0
Exchange differences -2 1 0 -1
Depreciation charge of the period -6 -6 -99 -111
Closing net book amount 166 5 119 289
At 31 December 2023
At Cost 179 426 529 1 134
Accumulated depreciation -13 -422 -411 -846
Net book amount 166 4 118 289

 In thousands of Euro

kEUR Buildings Machinery and 
motor vehicles

Furniture, fixtures, office 
equipment Total

At 1 January 2022  
At costs 18 539 448 1 005
Accumulated amortisation -6 -501 -266 -773
Net book amount 12 38 182 232
At 31 December 2022
Additions 87 61 104 252
Disposals (gross value) 0 -176 -64 -240
Disposed depreciation 0 165 54 219
Exchange differences -4 8 1 5
Depreciation charge of the period -1 -87 -104 -192
Closing net book amount 94 9 171 274
At 31 December 2022
At Costs 101 424 483 1 008
Accumulated depreciation -7 -415 -313 -734
Net book amount 94 9 171 274

Long-term tangible assets have been presented at acquisition prices, which include the cost of acquisition, expenses for 
transportation, customs duties and other expenses related to acquisition. Expenses for the technical appreciation of long-
term assets increase their acquisition cost.
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7.4 Leases (Group as a lessee)

 In thousands of Euro

Buildings Machinery and 
motor vehicles

Furniture, fixtures, office 
equipment Total

At 1 January 2023  
At Cost 4 045 156 177 4 378
Accumulated depreciation -1 281 -28 -130 -1 439
Net book amount 2 764 128 47 2 939
At 31 December 2023
Additions 352 36 0 388
Disposals (gross value) -211 -25 -8 -244
Disposed depreciation 118 25 8 151
Depreciation charge of the period -826 -67 -37 -930
Exchange differences -19 -14 -1 -34
Closing net book amount 2 178 83 9 2 270
At 31 December 2023
At Cost 4 508 251 185 4 944
Accumulated depreciation 2330 -168 -176 - 2674
Net book amount 2 178 83 9 2 270

 In thousands of Euro

Buildings Machinery and 
motor vehicles

Furniture, fixtures, office 
equipment Total

At 1 January 2022  
At Cost 3 641 218 262 4 121
Accumulated depreciation -1 691 -115 -157 -1 963
Net book amount 1950 103 105 2 158
At 31 December 2022
Additions 1 680 131 0 1 811
Disposals (gross value) -1 261 -190 -83 -1 534
Disposed depreciation 1 187 131 83 1 401
Depreciation charge of the period -777 -44 -56 -877
Exchange differences -15 -3 -2 -20
Exchange differences 2 764 128 47 2 939
At 31 December 2022
At Cost 4 045 156 177 4 378
Accumulated depreciation -1 281 -28 -130 -1 439
Net book amount 2 764 128 47 2 939
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The Group leases several assets including buildings, motor vehicles and IT equipment. The average lease term is 3.9 years 
(prior period: 4.2 years).

Amounts recognized in profit and loss:

 In thousands of Euro

 31.12.2023 31.12.2022 (re-stated) 
Depreciation expense on right-of-use assets 930 877
Interest expense on lease liabilities 189 173
Expense relating to short-term leases 0 0
Expense relating to leases of low value assets 16 119
Total 1 135 1 169

Total cash outflows related to leases were 1 055 thousand of Euros (prior year 717 thousand of Euros) which includes all 
lease payments including these on assets classified as low value.

7.5 Financial Assets

All Financial Assets are presented at amortized costs. Summary of financial assets and Group’s impairment approach shown 
in table below:

 In thousands of Euro

Impairment approach
At 31.12.2023  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Financial assets valuated 
at amortized costs Cash and Short-term deposits 18 807   

 Loan receivables and other short-term assets  3 804  
 Trade and other receivables  5 046 694
 Purchased unsecured loan portfolios   68 432

 In thousands of Euro

Impairment approach
At 31.12.2022 (restated)  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Financial assets valuated 
at amortized costs Cash and Short-term deposits 18 860   

 Loan receivables and other short-term assets  9 378  
 Trade and other receivables  5 933 495
 Purchased unsecured loan portfolios   67 824
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7.5.1 Loans receivables and other short-term assets

Loan receivables are short term parts of loans to APS Capital Group s.r.o. and Syndre d.o.o. , which both are classified as 
related parties.

7.5.2	 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables represent mainly receivables from Investors resulting from Asset Management Fees and receivables 
related to the Investors fees. 

As at 31 December 2023

 Not due yet 0-180 days 180-360 
days

over 360 
days

Total 
31.12.2023

Trade accounts receivable 3 537 751 72 569 4 929
Other receivables 708 50 20 33 811
Total Trade and other receivables 4 245 801 92 602 5 740

As at 31 December 2022

 Not due yet 0-180 days 180-360 
days

over 360 
days

Total 
31.12.2022

Trade accounts receivable 3 535 1 150 124 333 5 142
Other receivables 1 232 17 35 3 1 286
Total Trade and other receivables 4 767 1 167 159 336 6 428

Impairment of receivables as at 31 December 2023

In thousands of Euro Gross amount Impairment Net amount
Loans receivables 7 143 -10 7 133
Trade receivables 5 740 0 5 740
Other receivables 398 0 398
Impaired Cash Balance 13 281 -10 13 271

Impairment of receivables as at 31 December 2022 (restated) 

In thousands of Euro Gross amount Impairment Net amount
Loans receivables 704 -2 702
Trade receivables 6 428 0 6 428
Other receivables  971 0 971
Impaired Cash Balance 8 103 -2 8 101

We have no material movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognized in the reporting period. Based on group impair-
ment methodology considering for example the geographical region, segment of the customer and the days overdue of 
the receivables the impairment of 8 thousand of Euros was charged in the reporting period and total amount of impairment 
as of end of the reporting period is 10 thousand of Euros according to IFRS 9. 
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The majority of receivables overdue is related directly to APS owned Investment Fund entities and other related parties. 
APS servicing companies are servicing the assets owned by funds and dispone by the cash collected for the investor. We 
consider the risk as very low, based on historical data no receivables remained unpaid and had to be written off and we do 
not expect such a situation in the future. These receivables are accumulated mostly in Romania.

7.5.3	Purchased loan portfolios

This category is represented by several portfolios purchased on balance sheet of group’s subsidiaries. 

First, and most significant part, is represented by corporate secured portfolio Frame, purchased by ETA S.A. in December 
2022, presented at amortized cost in the amount of 63 302 thousand of euro (61 607 thousand of Euros as of December 
31, 2022). 

The other are portfolios purchased by Czech, Romanian and Croatian and Serbian subsidiary, which corresponds to 4 948 
thousand of Euros as of December 31, 2023 (6 161 thousand of Euros as of December 31, 2022). Majority of these portfolios 
are tails of secured portfolios, purchased during 2022 and 2023 from the investors for whose we previously provided the 
recovery services.

Third part represents older non-performing loans portfolios (investment in year 2011-2013), purchased by APS Recovery a.s., 
which corresponds to 182 thousand of Euros as of December 31, 2023 (56 thousand of Euros as of December 31, 2022). 
As these portfolios which are controlled by the Group are still generating important cashflows, according to the accounting 
standard the group recognizes it on is balance sheet.

7.5.4	 Cash and Short-term deposits

Bank deposits were impaired according to Group’s methodology described in note 3.

7.5.4	 Cash and Short-term deposits

Bank deposits were impaired according to Group’s methodology described in note 3.

In thousands of Euro

 31.12.2023 31.12.2022 (restated)

Bank deposits and Cash balances 18 819 18 886

Impairment calculated -12 -26
Impaired Cash Balance 18 807 18 860
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7.6 Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities are reported at amortized costs except for interest rate swap and non-deliverable forward which are 
presented at fair value.

In thousands of Euro

 31.12.2023 31.12.2022 (restated) 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Bank and other loans 37 374 49 495
Issued Bonds 43 536 35 110
Trade and other payables 15 014 8 446
Financial liabilities at fair value
Interest rate swap 181 29
Financial liablities 96 105 93 080

Amount due for settlement within 12 months 33 851 17 864
Amount due for settlement after 12 months 62 254 75 216

All the borrowings are denominated in Euro.

Age structure of financial liabilities is available in section 5.6 liquidity risks. 

7.6.1  Issued Bonds

Bonds with variable interest were issued by APS ETA S.A. on 14 December 2022 with book value of 35 292 thousand of 
Euros and maturity in December 2037. Additionally, there are bonds issued by Loan Management II, a.s. with book value of 
6 137 thousand of Euros. These bonds were issued in May 2021, August 2021, March 2023, with maturity dates being May 
2025, August 2025 and March 2026, respectively. Coupon rates range between 7 % and 8 % p.a.

7.6.2 Bank and other loans

UniCredit Bank loan 
In 2021 the Group was granted a long-term external loan in the sum of 14 million euros by UniCredit Bank Czech 
Republic and Slovakia.

As of December 31, 2023, long term part of the loan is in amount of 7 030 thousand of Euros and the amount payable 
within one year is in amount of 1 960 thousand of Euros. 

Eurobank loan 
The loan from Eurobank provided to APS ETA S.A. is a financing facility for purchased portfolio Frame (detail in note 
7.5.3) with outstanding balance 26 209 thousand of Euros. Short-term part is in amount of 13 632 thousand of Euros. 
The maturity date of the debt is September 2025, with the interest rate being 5 % p.a.

Financial Covenants 
Financial covenants are set up by conditions in Term facility agreement signed on 12 February 2021 with UniCredit 
Bank. Indicator is calculating as ratio of Gross Debt to earnings before interest tax and depreciation (EBITDA). Finan-
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cial covenants were fulfilled for financial year 2023, with the ratio 2.99 while the bottom ratio for the financial year 
2023 is set-up to 3.0. 

7.7 Deferred tax

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognized by the Group and movements thereon during the 
current and prior reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to 
settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for finan-
cial reporting purposes:

 In thousands of Euro

 31.12.2023 31.12.2022
Deferred tax liabilities -147 -155

Derred tax assets and Liabilities charges during the period as follows:

 In thousands of Euro

Deferred tax liability
  Fixed assets depreciation

01.01.2022 -212
Charge to profit or loss 63
Charge direct to equity                       -6    

01.01.2023 -155
Charge to profit or loss 4
Exchange differences 4

31.12.2023 -147

Deferred tax liability decreased to 147 thousand of Euros, no deferred tax asset recognized during financial year 2023. The 
change in deferred tax liability was charged to the Profit and loss statement. Deferred tax liabilities were booked mainly due 
to the variance in Tax and Accounting amortization. The Deferred tax relates to the entities APS Recovery a.s.

7.8 Trade and other payables

 In thousands of Euro

 31.12.2023 31.12.2022 (restated) 

Trade and other payables 14 547 8 148

VAT liability 466 297
 Total 15 013 8 446

Trade payables and accruals principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs. The Group has 
financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the pre-agreed credit terms. Year over 
year increase is caused mainly by the payables to external investors related to the collections from the Frame portfolio, and also 
due to the liability representing payments received from investors of Rhapsody II, sub-fund APS CREDIT FUND a.s., under the 
Agreement on the Issue and Redemption of Investment Shares to whom investment shares have not yet been issued. 
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Part of VAT liability was settled during the year 2023. 

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade payables approximates to their fair value.

7.9 Provisions

As of 31 December 2023 In thousands of Euro

Description Expected 
timing 01.01.2023 additions amount 

used
unused 

reversed 31.12.2023

provision for annual bonuses
provision for personnel dismissal

first half 2024 314 209 160 23 340
first half 2024 40 21 0 26 35

provision for operating activities first half 2024 9 343 0 0 352
provision for unused holidays first half 2024 49 1 3 0 47
 Total 412 574 163 49 774

Long-term provisions are presented as a part of balance on the row Other Long-term liabilities on consolidated statement 
of financial position.

As of 31 December 2022 In thousands of Euro

Description Expected 
timing 01.01.2022 additions amount 

used
unused 

reversed 31.12.2022

provision for annual bonuses first half 2023 100 342 105 23 314
provision for personnel dismissal first half 2023 18 26 4 0 40
provision for operating activities first half 2023 9 0 0 0 9
provision for CIT first half 2023 0 0 0 0 0
provision for unused holidays first half 2023 44 19 0 14 49
 Total 171 387 109 37 412

All provisions are classified as short term, to be used in first half of year 2023. Most of the provisions are booked in 
entities APS Investments s.r.o., APS Poland S.A, Asset Portfolio Servicing Romania SRL and APS Recovery Greece. The 
provisions are primarily related to unused holidays and annual bonuses.

7.10 Share capital

The Company’s registered capital is composed of 62,000 ordinary shares entered in the books with the face value of 
0.50 Euro (fifty cents) per one share. The registered capital has been paid in full. The Group does not have any type of 
ordinary shares which are connected to a regular payment of dividends. The Company has one class of ordinary shares 
which carry no right to fixed income. 

There were no changes in share capital during the reporting period. Profit of current year was transferred to the retained 
earnings where profits and losses brought forward are accumulated. Other comprehensive income is represented by 
the translation reserve, which is a result of the translation of financial statements denominated in a foreign currency into 
the Group’s reporting currency.

7.11 Non-controlling interests

Summarized financial information in respect of each of the Group’s subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests 
is set out below. The summarized financial information below represents amounts before intercompany eliminations. 
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The dividends paid to non-controlling interests during 2023 consist of 110 thousand of Euros paid to the minority share-
holder of APS Recovery Hungary Kft. And 200 thousand of Euros paid to the non-controlling interests of Loan Manage-
ment II, a.s.

(i) APS Recovery Greece Credit and Loan Servicing S.A. (non-controlling interest 34,6%)

 In thousands of Euro

APS Recovery Greece Credit and Loan Servicing S.A.
31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Current assets 608 500
Non-current assets 127 143
Total assets 735 643
Current liabilities 635 528
Non-current liabilities 0 0
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 65 69
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests 35 46
Total equity & liabilities 735 643
Operating revenue 2 165 1 704
Operating expenses -2 172 -1 746
Total comprehensive income attributable to owners of the Company -14 -39
Total comprehensive income attributable to the non-controlling interests -7 -25
Total comprehensive income for the year -21 -64

(ii) 	APS Recovery Hungary Kft. (non-controlling interest 20%)

 In thousands of Euro

APS Recovery Hungary Kft.
31.12.2023 31.12.2022  

Current assets 775 1 131
Non-current assets 7 8
Total assets 782 1 139
Current liabilities 150 396
Non-current liabilities 0 0
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 505 594
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests 127 149
Total equity & liabilities 782 1 139
Operating revenue 1 738 1 807
Operating expenses -1 136 -1 094
Total comprehensive income attributable to owners of the Company 430 525
Total comprehensive income attributable to the non-controlling interests 107 131
Total comprehensive income for the year 537 656
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 110 202
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(iii)	 LOAN MANAGEMENT II a.s. (non-controlling interest 50%)

 In thousands of Euro

LOAN MANAGEMENT II, a.s.
31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Current assets 3 973 8 986
Non-current assets 7 066 504
Total assets 11 039 9 490
Current liabilities 1 411 1 807
Non-current liabilities 6 138 5 261
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 1745 1 211
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests 1745 1 211
Total equity & liabilities 11 039 9 490
Operating revenue 599 0
Operating expenses -689 -202
Total comprehensive income attributable to owners of the Company 734 380
Total comprehensive income attributable to the non-controlling interests 734 380
Total comprehensive income for the year 1 468 760

7.12 Disposals of subsidiaries

As of September 13, 2023 APS Recovery a.s. disposed the entity LLC "APS Ukraine" for selling price 1 Euro. The result 
of the transaction is a loss of 41 thousand Euros and was reflected in Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income.  

As of March 3, 2023 APS Recovery a.s. disposed the entity Syndre d.o.o. Beograd-Stari Grad for selling price 100 Euros. 
The result of the transaction is a loss of 4 thousand Euros and was reflected in Consolidated statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income.  

As of July 20,  2023 APS Recovery a.s. have finalized the liquidation of the entity  APS Warsaw sp. z o.o. The result of 
the liquidation is a  loss of 2 thousand Euros and was reflected in Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income.

8.	 Notes to Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
 In thousands of Euro

31.12.2023 31.12.2022
Bank deposits and Cash balances 18 796 18 791
Petty cash 11 69
Total 18 807 18 860

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or 
less, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. The carrying amount of these assets is approximately equal to their fair value. 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period as shown in the consolidated statement of cash flows can 
be reconciled to the related items in the consolidated reporting position as shown above.
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9. Contingent liabilities

As of the Financial Statements closing date, the Company was not involved in any legal disputes that could have material 
impact on the business of the Company.

The Group does not identify any other contingent liability.

10.	 Events after the reporting period

The Company performed a review of events subsequent to the balance sheet date through the date the consolidated 
financial statements were issued and determined that there were no such events requiring recognition or disclosure in 
the financial statements.

11.	 Related party transactions

Balances and transactions between the company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on 
consolidation and are not disclosed in the notes. Transactions between the Group and its associates are disclosed below.

Summary of Group´s Transactions and outstanding balances with related parties and key management personnel in the 
table below:

In thousands of Euro

Transactions and balances Other related parties Key management personnel Total
Revenues 1 706 0 1 706
Loan Payable 83 0 83
Interests 0 28 28

Transactions and outstanding balances with other related parties consist of: 

•	 transactions between APS Recovery Hungary Kft. and Momentum Credit Pénzügyi Zrt. in amount of 1 706 thousand 
of Euros are related to asset management fees and financial advisory services.

•	 outstanding balance between APS Recovery a.s. and APS Capital Group s.r.o. in amount of 83 thousand of Euros are 
related to loan receivable including accrued interest, with the rate of interest 6.5% per annum. The loan is unsecured 
with no guarantees. 

Outstanding balance with related key management personnel consist of:

•	 Outstanding balance between the ultimate owner Martin Machoň and APS Recovery a.s. in amount of 28 thousand 
of Euros is related to interest of loan from sole shareholder which was fully repaid during 2023.
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List of related persons for the accounting period ended 31 December 2023:

•	 Martin Machoň					  
•	 Petr Kohout					   
•	 Roman Šedivý
•	 Barbora Kubíková
•	 Viktor Tóth

Remuneration of key management personnel

Key management compensation, considering people above as being the key management was 619 thousand of Euros 
in the reporting period (633 thousand of Euros in 2022). Related social and health insurance was 129 thousand of Euros 
(152 thousand of Euros in 2022). There are no post-employment benefits, long-term benefits, termination benefits or 
share-base payments related to the key management identified in the reporting period.

12 Approval of the financial statements

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors and authorized for issue on  20 February 2025.

Signature of Board of Directors:

Martin Machoň

Chairman of the Board 
of Directors

Barbora Kubíková

Member of the Board 
of Directors



AUDITOR’S 
REPORT

16



 

Société à responsabilité limitée au capital de 360.000 € 
RCS Luxembourg B 67.895 
Autorisation d’établissement 10022179 
 
© Deloitte Audit, SARL 
 
 107 

 Deloitte Audit 
Société à responsabilité limitée 
20 Boulevard de Kockelscheuer 
L-1821 Luxembourg 
 
Tel: +352 451 451 
www.deloitte.lu 

To the Board of Directors of  

APS Holding S.A. 

46A, Avenue John F. Kennedy 

L - 1855 Luxembourg 

 

REPORT OF THE REVISEUR D’ENTREPRISES AGREE 

 

Report on the Audit of the consolidated financial statements 

 

Opinion 

 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of APS Holding S.A. and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which 

comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2023, and the consolidated statement 

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated 

statement cash flow statement for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including 

material accounting policy information and other explanatory information. 

 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated 

financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2023, and its consolidated financial performance and its 

consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as adopted by the 

European Union. 

 

Basis for Opinion 

 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Law of July 23, 2016 on the audit profession (Law of July 23, 2016) and 

with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) as adopted for Luxembourg by the Commission de Surveillance du 

Secteur Financier (CSSF). Our responsibilities under the Law of July 23, 2016 and ISAs as adopted for Luxembourg by 

the CSSF are further described in the “Responsibilities of the réviseur d’entreprises agréé for the Audit of the 

consolidated financial statements” section of our report. We are also independent of the Group in accordance with 

the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, including International Independence Standards, issued 

by the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code) as adopted for Luxembourg by the CSSF 

together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements, and 

have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities under those ethical requirements. We believe that the audit evidence 

we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
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Emphasis of Matter 

 

We draw your attention to note 3.4 of the consolidated financial statements, which describe the correction of errors 

identified during the financial year 2023 relating to the financial year ended December 31, 2022. Our opinion is not 

modified in respect to this matter. 

 

Other information 

 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 

stated in the consolidated annual report but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our report of 

the réviseur d’entreprises agréé thereon. 

 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 

form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 

information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated 

financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based 

on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 

required to report this fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors for the consolidated financial statements 

 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 

statements in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as adopted by the European Union, and for such internal 

control as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the Group’s 

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 

concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, 

or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
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Responsibilities of the réviseur d’entreprises agréé for the Audit of the consolidated financial statements 

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue a report of the réviseur d’entreprises 

agréé that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 

conducted in accordance with the Law of July 23, 2016 and with ISAs as adopted for Luxembourg by the CSSF will 

always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 

material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 

users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Law of July 23, 2016 and with ISAs as adopted for Luxembourg by the CSSF, 

we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 

resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 

intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Group’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 

related disclosures made by the Board of Directors. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of Board of Directors use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 

on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 

cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 

uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our report of the réviseur d’entreprises agréé to the 

related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 

our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our report of the 

réviseur d’entreprises agréé. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue 

as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 

events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities and business 

activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 

for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 

opinion. 
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 

of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 

during our audit. 

 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

 

The Directors’ report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and has been prepared in accordance 

with applicable legal requirements. 

 

 
For Deloitte Audit, Cabinet de révision agréé 
 
 
PP 
 
 
Maël Garo, Réviseur d’entreprises agréé  
Partner 

 

February 21, 2025 
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